JAIST Repository

https://dspace.jaist.ac.jp/

Title	直観主義線形論理に対するペトリネットモデル		
Author(s)	石原,啓子		
Citation			
Issue Date	2001-09		
Туре	Thesis or Dissertation		
Text version	author		
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/10119/928		
Rights			
Description	Supervisor:平石 邦彦, 情報科学研究科, 博士		



Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology

Petri Net Models for Intuitionistic Linear Logic

by

Keiko Ishihara

submitted to Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Supervisor: Professor Kunihiko Hiraishi

School of Information Science Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology

August 28, 2001

Copyright © 2001 by Keiko Ishihara

Abstract

The connection between linear logic and Petri nets has recently been a subject of great interest. In these researches, the propositional fragment of intuitionistic linear logic with exponential ! was considered, and Petri nets were related to linear logic as follows: each place of a Petri net is regarded as an atomic proposition of linear logic, and transitions as provability relation.

Soundness and completeness of linear logic are proved for algebraic structures, called quantales. Engberg and Winskel showed soundness of linear logic for quantales induced from Petri nets, but for these quantales completeness was not valid. Soundness states that all provable properties (formulas) in linear logic hold in Petri nets, while completeness states that properties which hold in any Petri net can be proved in linear logic. When both of soundness and completeness are valid in some quantales induced from Petri nets, we can say that a property is provable in linear logic if and only if it is a common property of Petri nets, i.e., it holds in any Petri net.

Recently Engberg and Winskel have also proved completeness of a \sqcup -free fragment of linear logic and linear logic with distributivity. One of difficulties in proving completeness for full linear logic lies in distributivity of \sqcap over \sqcup , i.e., $A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)$, which does not hold in linear logic. The quantales constructed by Engberg and Winskel are distributive lattices, i.e., distributivity is always valid. Therefore, to prove completeness using their quantales, we have to deal with the \sqcup -free fragment or to add the distributivity to linear logic as an axiom. However these are not what we intend to do. Although there should be argument about which of full linear logic or a logic with distributivity is appropriate for representing properties of Petri nets, we here concentrate on proving completeness for full linear logic. To find adequate logics for which the models of Engberg and Winskel are complete is another interesting problem.

In this thesis, we first construct non-distributive quantales, i.e., quantales in which distributivity is not always valid, from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic without exponential for the quantales. In linear logic, exponential ! is added to compensate the absence of the rules of weakening and contraction. For example, !A indicates that we may extract as many data of type A as we like, i.e., a datum of type !A is a finite collection of data of type A. For Petri nets, we can regard a place with exponential ! as a place which can supply arbitrary many but finite resources (tokens, in petri net terminology) by firing transitions. We extend the construction of the quantales to those with exponential, and prove completeness of linear logic for the quantales. It means that properties which hold in any Petri nets with such exponential places can be proved in linear logic.

We also give an impression on the meaning of the logic on the proposed Petri net model, comparing with that by Engberg and Winskel.

Contents

1	Intr	Introduction				
2	Pre	limina	ries	6		
	2.1	Basic .	Algebraic Structures	6		
		2.1.1	Multisets	6		
		2.1.2	Monoids and Ordered Structures	7		
		2.1.3	Meets and Joins	9		
		2.1.4	Lattices	12		
	2.2	Fixed	Point Theorem	16		
3	Pet	ri Nets		19		
	3.1	Petri I	Nets and Multisets	19		
	3.2	Reach	ability Relation	$\frac{1}{21}$		
	0.2	recacin				
4	Qua	ntales	and Closure Operations	24		
	4.1	IL-alge	ebras and Quantales	24		
		4.1.1	IL-algebras	24		
		4.1.2	Quantales	26		
	4.2	Closur	e Operations on IL-algebras and Quantales	28		
		4.2.1	Closure Operation	28		
		4.2.2	Closure Operation on IL-algebras	29		
		4.2.3	Closure Operation on Quantales	30		
		4.2.4	Closure Operation C_1 and C_2	33		
	4.3	Quant	ales with Exponential	35		
		4.3.1	Exponential on Quantales	35		
		4.3.2	FS-quantales and Quantales with Exponential	36		
5	Intu	iitionis	tic Linear Logic without Exponential	40		
	5.1	Syntax	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	40		
		5.1.1	Formulas	40		
		5.1.2	Sequents	41		
		5.1.3	Axioms (initial sequents) and Rules	41		
		5.1.4	Examples of Proofs	42		
		5.1.5	Relation between Linear Logic and Petri Nets	44		
	5.2	Seman	tics	46		
	J. .	5.2.1	Valuation on Quantale	46		
		5.2.2	Validity	46		
		5.2.3	Soundness	47		

	5.3	Compl	eteness	51			
6	Intu	tuitionistic Linear Logic					
	6.1	Syntax		57			
		6.1.1	Formulas	57			
		6.1.2	Sequents	58			
		6.1.3	Axioms (initial sequents) and Rules	58			
		6.1.4	Examples of Proofs	60			
		6.1.5	Relation between the exponential and Petri Nets	62			
	6.2	Seman	tics	63			
		6.2.1	Valuation on Quantale	63			
		6.2.2	Validity	64			
		6.2.3	Soundness	64			
	6.3	Compl	eteness	67			
		6.3.1	Completeness for FS-Linear Logic	69			
		6.3.2	Completeness for Linear Logic	72			
7	Interpretation on Petri Nets						
	7.1	Interp	The tation of C_1 and C_2	76			
	7.2	Differe	nce between C_1 and C_2	77			
	7.3	Interp	retation of Exponential !	84			
	7.4	Anothe	er Interpretation	85			
	7.5	Relatio	on of Linear Logic, Models and Petri Nets	87			
8	Con	cludin	g Remarks	89			

Chapter 1

Introduction

Linear Logic, introduced by J. Y. Girard in 1987 [19], is interesting from a purely logical point of view, and potentially of considerable interest for computer science [20, 24, 26, 27, 30, 45]. Linear logic (intuitionistic, classical and predicate) are obtained by deleting the contraction and the weakening rules from standard sequent calculus formulations of corresponding logics. Linear logic may be viewed as an example of a *resource conscious* logic, where the formulas represent types of resource, and resources cannot be used ad libitum. That is to say, asserting a sequent $A, A \Rightarrow B$ means something like: we use two data (resources) of type A to obtain one datum of type B. In Gentzen-style sequent calculus for intuitionistic logic, a sequent $A_1, \ldots, A_n \Rightarrow A$ is written to mean that the formula A is deducible from the assumption formulas A_1, \ldots, A_n (we shall use capital Greek letters as an abbreviation for a sequence of formulas). The calculus has the two structural rules for adding a vacant assumption and removing of a duplicate of assumption,

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} \text{ (weakening)},$$

$$\frac{\Gamma, A, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} \text{ (contraction)},$$

In the presence of these rules the following two rules for conjunction

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Delta \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (1),$$
$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (2)$$

become interderivable in the sense that the first rule can be derived from the second by weakening, and the second from the first by contraction. In intuitionistic linear logic these rules (weakening and contraction) are deleted and the rule of (1) and (2) are no longer interderivable. Without them, propositions cannot be introduced arbitrarily into a list of assumption and a duplication in the list cannot be removed. It is in this sense that linear logic is a resource conscious logic.

In the years 1960-1962, Carl Adam Petri defined Petri nets which is a general purpose mathematical model for describing relations existing between conditions and events [40]. Petri nets consist of two types of elements, places and transitions. Each place models a process in terms of types of resources, and can hold arbitrary nonnegative multiplicity. Each transition represents a state transition rule, i.e., how those resources are consumed or produced by actions. They are described using the notion of multisets. A multiset over a set P is a function, $m: P \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}$ [9, 18, 32, 41].

The connection between linear logic and Petri nets has recently been a subject of great interest [7, 8, 15, 16, 17, 29, 34, 35]. Girard's linear logic has a great deal of interest in how might be useful in the theory of parallelism. In these researches, the propositional fragment of intuitionistic linear logic with exponential ! [47] was considered, and Petri nets were related to linear logic as follows: each place of a Petri net is regarded as an atomic propositions of linear logic, and transitions as provability relation. In the sequel, we shall simply use the word "linear logic" to denote the propositional fragment of intuitionistic linear logic.

Soundness and completeness of linear logic are proved for algebraic structures, called quantale [1, 5, 19, 21, 22, 39, 47]. Engberg and Winskel [15] showed soundness of linear logic for quantales induced from Petri nets, but for these quantales completeness was not valid. Soundness theorem states that all provable properties (formulas) in linear logic hold in Petri nets, while completeness theorem states that properties which hold in any Petri net can be proved in linear logic. When both of soundness and completeness are valid in some quantales induced from Petri nets, we can say that a property is provable in linear logic if and only if it is a common property of Petri nets, i.e., it holds in any Petri net.

Recently Engberg and Winskel have also proved completeness of a \sqcup -free fragment of linear logic and linear logic with distributivity [16, 17]. One of difficulties in proving completeness for full linear logic lies in distributivity of \sqcap over \sqcup . Although the following proof shows that

$$(A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)$$

is derivable in linear logic,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{B \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1) \\ \frac{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow) \\ (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \qquad (a),$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{\frac{C \Rightarrow C}{C \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2)}{A \sqcap C \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\square 2 \Rightarrow) \\ A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \qquad (b)$$

and from (a) and (b), we can get

$$\frac{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \quad A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)}{(A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)} (\sqcup \Rightarrow),$$

we cannot prove the sequent

$$A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C).$$

That is, the distributivity of \sqcap over \sqcup does not hold in linear logic. With the contraction and weakening rules, we can prove this as follows:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, B \Rightarrow A} \text{ (weakening)} \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A, B \Rightarrow B} \text{ (weakening)} \\ \frac{A, B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{A, B \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} \text{ ($\Rightarrow \sqcup 1$)}$$
(a)

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, C \Rightarrow A} \text{ (weakening)} \quad \frac{C \Rightarrow C}{A, C \Rightarrow C} \text{ (weakening)} \\ \frac{A, C \Rightarrow A \sqcap C}{A, C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} \text{ ($\Rightarrow \sqcup 2$)} \text{ ($b)}$$

and from (a) and (b), we can get

$$\frac{A, B \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \quad A, C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)}{A, B \sqcup C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} (\sqcup \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{A, B \sqcup C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)}{A \sqcap (B \sqcup C), A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} (\sqcap 1 \text{ and } \sqcap 2 \Rightarrow)$$

$$(\Box \Rightarrow)$$

$$A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)$$

$$(contraction)$$

The quantales constructed in [15, 16, 17] are distributive lattices. Therefore, to prove completeness using their quantales, we have to deal with the \sqcup -free fragment or to add the distributivity to linear logic as an axiom. However these are not what we intend to do.

There is a family of substructural logics, such as relevant logics, in which distributivity is valid. It has been pointed out that semantic considerations of substructural logics tend toward validating distribution, and proof theoretic considerations tend toward invalidating it (see [13]). Although there should be argument about which of full linear logic or a logic with distributivity is appropriate for representing properties of Petri nets, we here concentrate on proving completeness for full linear logic. To find adequate logics for which the models of [15, 16, 17] are complete is another interesting problem.

The key element is the way of the construction of quantales. When we construct the quantales, we use a closure operation. We introduce two closure operations C_1 and C_2 . Let $\mathbf{X} = \langle M, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a preordered commutative monoid. We define two closure operations C_1 and C_2 on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$. C_1 is an operation on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ such that

$$C_1 X := \{ y \in M \mid \exists x \in X (y \le x) \},\$$

and C_2 is an operation on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ such that

$$C_2 X := (X^{\to})^{\leftarrow},$$

where

$$X^{\rightarrow} := \{ y \in M \mid \forall x \in X (x \le y) \}$$

and

$$X^{\leftarrow} := \{ y \in M \mid \forall x \in X (y \le x) \}.$$

 C_1 is used in [15, 16, 17], and C_2 , which is called the MacNeille completion of X [23, 31], is used in this thesis. In the quantales constructed from Petri nets using C_1 , distributivity is always valid. But in the quantales constructed from Petri nets using C_2 , distributivity is not always valid.

In this thesis, we first construct non-distributive quantales, i.e., quantales in which distributivity is not always valid, from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic without exponential for the quantales.

Moreover, we extend the quantales to the quantales with exponential. In linear logic, exponential ! is added to compensate the absence of the rules of weakening and contraction. For example, !A indicates that we may extract as many data of type A as we like, i.e., a datum of type !A is a finite collection of data of type A. For Petri nets, we can regard a place with exponential ! as a place which can supply arbitrary many but finite resources (tokens, in Petri net terminology) by firing transitions. We extend the construction of the quantales to those with exponential, and prove completeness of linear logic for the quantales. It means that properties which hold in any Petri nets with such exponential places can be proved in linear logic.

There are two approaches to construct a Petri net model in which completeness of linear logic holds; one is introducing distributivity in the logic, and the other is the approach taken in this thesis, i.e., making a non-distributive model by using appropriate closure operation.

From the practical point of view, the former approach may be useful in dealing with properties of Petri net. The quantale constructed in this thesis seems strange from a Petri net point of view, because the closure operation takes both of forwards and backwards reachability into account. However, the motivation of this thesis is to find an answer to the following problem: Is there a Petri net model which is sound and complete for full linear logic? And the problem has been solved affirmatively.

Of course, the significance of the result depends on the meaning of the logic in Petri nets. For the proposed Petri net model, we give an interpretation of the logic which may be acceptable from a Petri net point of view, comparing with that by Engberg and Winskel [15].

The organization of this thesis is as follows.

In Chapter 2, we review basic algebraic structures and fixed point theorem. In the discussion of this thesis, we shall often need the concepts of basic algebraic structures (for example a multiset and ordered structures) and fixed point theorem. In these notes we do not intend to go very deeply in to these; we limit ourselves to a brief description of basic algebraic structures and fixed point theorem.

In Chapter 3, we review Petri nets. First we discuss Petri net simply. Then we introduce the relation between Petri net and multiset, and reachability relation.

In Chapter 4, we discuss IL-algebras and quantales. Then we introduce two closure operations C_1 and C_2 on the algebras, which play a crucial role in the proof of completeness. Moreover, we discuss exponential and quantales with exponential.

In Chapter 5, we discuss linear logic without exponential (its syntax and semantics) and then prove soundness theorem for quantales generated by Petri nets. Next we show why we cannot prove completeness for the quantales used in [15, 16, 17]. Finally we show how to construct quantales in which the distributivity is not always valid from Petri nets, and then prove completeness of linear logic without exponential for the quantales.

In Chapter 6, we discuss linear logic with exponential (its syntax and semantics) and then prove soundness theorem for the quantales generated by Petri nets. And then we show how to construct quantales with exponential in which the distributivity is not always valid from Petri nets, and then prove completeness of linear logic with exponential for the quantales.

In Chapter 7, we give an impression on the meaning of the logic on the proposed Petri net model, comparing with that by [15]. We consider a difference of interpretations between closure operations C_1 and C_2 , and we show a different interpretation of formulas under the closure operation C_2 .

In Chapter 8, we consider classical quantales for classical linear logic generated by Petri nets.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we review basic algebraic structures and fixed point theorem. For background material on basic algebraic structures, see [3, 6, 14, 28, 46, 48, 49] and on fixed point theorem, see [37].

2.1 Basic Algebraic Structures

In the discussion of this thesis, we shall often need the concepts of a multiset and ordered structures. In these notes we do not intend to go very deeply into these; we limit ourselves to a brief description of the theory of multiset and the pure theory of ordered structures.

2.1.1 Multisets

Intuitively, a multiset is a set with (finite) multiplicities; there may be finitely many copies of a single element. As a formal definition we use

Definition 2.1.1 (multiset) A multiset over a set S is a mapping $m : S \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}$, where m(a) = n means that a occurs with multiplicity n. If m(a) = 0, a is not an element of m (that is to say, a occurs with multiplicity 0).

The operation + on multisets is defined by (m + m')(a) = m(a) + m'(a) for all $a \in S$, and [] denotes the empty multiset.

We shall denote the set of all multisets over a set S by \mathcal{M}_S , and use $\{\cdots\}$ for a set and $[\cdots]$ for a multiset.

Example 2.1.2 Let a and b be elements of S. Then

• $\{a\}, \{b\}, \{a, b\}, \dots$ are sets and

 $\{a\} = \{a, a\}$ and $\{a\} \cup \{a, b\} = \{a, b\},\$

• $[a], [b], [a, b], \ldots$ are multisets and

$$[a] \neq [a, a]$$
 and $[a] + [a, b] = [a, a, b]$.

2.1.2 Monoids and Ordered Structures

Definition 2.1.3 (monoid) A structure $\mathbf{M} = \langle X, \cdot, e \rangle$ is a *monoid* with the identity e if \cdot is a binary operation on X and e is an element of X such that for every $a, b, c \in X$,

- 1. $a \cdot (b \cdot c) = (a \cdot b) \cdot c$,
- 2. $a \cdot e = e \cdot a = a$.

Remark 2.1.4 When the structure satisfies only 1 of Definition 2.1.3, it is called a *semigroup*.

Definition 2.1.5 (commutative monoid) A structure $\mathbf{M} = \langle X, \cdot, e \rangle$ is a *commutative monoid* with the identity e if

- 1. $\langle X, \cdot, e \rangle$ is a monoid,
- 2. $a \cdot b = b \cdot a$ for every $a, b \in X$.

Definition 2.1.6 (partially ordered set) A structure $\mathbf{X} = \langle X, \leq \rangle$ is a *partially ordered* set if \leq is a binary relation on X such that for every $a, b, c \in X$,

- 1. $a \leq a$ (reflexive),
- 2. if $a \leq b$ and $b \leq c$, then $a \leq c$ (transitive),
- 3. if $a \leq b$ and $b \leq a$, then a = b (antisymmetric).

Let P be a partially ordered set and $X \subseteq P$. $y \in X$ is the greatest element of X if and only if

if
$$x \in X$$
, then $x \leq y$,

and $y' \in X$ is the least element of X if and only if

if
$$x \in X$$
, then $y' \leq x$.

Let P be a partially ordered set and $X \subseteq P$. $y \in X$ is the maximal element of X if and only if

if $y \leq x$ and $x \in X$, then x = y,

and $y' \in X$ is the minimal element of X if and only if

if
$$x \leq y'$$
 and $x \in X$, then $x = y'$.

Let P and Q be partially ordered sets. Then a function $f: P \longrightarrow Q$ is monotone if and only if for all $a, b \in P$,

if
$$a \leq b$$
, then $f(a) \leq f(b)$.

So f preserves order.

We shall think of the elements of a partially ordered set as being propositions, and of \leq as meaning " \Rightarrow ", or "entails", or "is logically stronger than". Then it is precisely antisymmetry that says that if two propositions are logically equivalent (each entails the other) then they are equal: we identify them.

Example 2.1.7 Little partially ordered sets can be drawn using diagrams as follows:



Figure 2.1: Partially ordered set.

Here each line represents an inequality. For instance, $b \leq a$, because b is at the bottom end of the line, $e \leq b$. We can deduce other inequalities, such as $f \leq f$, $e \leq a$, from the partially ordered set axioms, reflexive and transitive, i.e., $e \leq b$ and $b \leq a$, or $e \leq c$ and $c \leq a$.

Example 2.1.8 Let X be a set and $\mathcal{P}(X)$ its power set, i.e., the set of all subsets of X. Taking \leq to mean \subseteq , $\mathcal{P}(X)$ is a partially ordered set. Antisymmetry corresponds to the extensional definition of set equality, which says that equality between sets is to be determined entirely by what elements they have.

Definition 2.1.9 (preordered set) A structure $\mathbf{X} = \langle X, \leq \rangle$ is a *preordered set* if \leq is a binary relation on X such that for every $a, b, c \in X$,

- 1. $a \leq a$ (reflexive),
- 2. if $a \leq b$ and $b \leq c$, then $a \leq c$ (transitive).

Proposition 2.1.10 Let P be a preordered set. We define a binary relation \equiv on P by

 $a \equiv b$ if and only if $a \leq b$ and $b \leq a$.

Then \equiv is an equivalence relation, and the equivalence classes [a] form a partially ordered set $P \equiv$, with

$$[a] \leq [b]$$
 if and only if $a \leq b$.

Definition 2.1.11 (preordered commutative monoid) A structure $\mathbf{X} = \langle X, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ is a *preordered commutative monoid* if,

- 1. $\langle X, \cdot, e \rangle$ is a commutative monoid,
- 2. $\langle X, \leq \rangle$ is a preordered set,
- 3. if $x \leq x'$ and $y \leq y'$, then $x \cdot y \leq x' \cdot y'$ for all $x, x', y, y' \in X$.

2.1.3 Meets and Joins

Thinking of \leq as meaning " \Rightarrow ", we next wish to describe what corresponds to "and" and "or".

First, we define meets, which correspond to "and".

Definition 2.1.12 (meet) Let P be a partially ordered set, $X \subseteq P$ and $y \in P$. Then y is a *meet* (or *greatest lower bound* or *infimum*) for X if and only if

- 1. y is a lower bound for X, i.e., if $x \in X$ then $y \leq x$, and
- 2. if z is any other lower bound for X then $z \leq y$.

In symbols, we write $y = \bigwedge X$.

Example 2.1.13 Let P be a partially ordered set, $X \subseteq P$ and $y \in P$. A meet, or a greatest lower bound y and lower bounds of X can be drawn as follows:



Figure 2.2: Meet and lower bounds.

- If $x \in X$, then $y \leq x$, and then y is a lower bound for X,
- if z is any other lower bound for X, then $z \leq y$.

Proposition 2.1.14 Let P be a partially ordered set and X a subset. Then X can have at most one meet.

Proof. Let y and y' be two meets of X. Since y is a meet and y' is a lower bound, $y' \leq y$. Similarly, $y \leq y'$. By antisymmetry, y = y'.

Next, we define joins, which correspond to "or".

Definition 2.1.15 (join) Let P be a partially ordered set, $X \subseteq P$ and $y \in P$. Then y is a *join* (or *least upper bound* or *supremum*) for X if and only if

1. y is an upper bound for X, i.e., if $x \in X$ then $y \ge x$ and

2. if z is any other upper bound for X then $z \ge y$.

In symbols, we write $y = \bigvee X$.

Remark 2.1.16 \top and \perp are defined as follows:

- \top is the greatest element,
- \perp is the least element.
- $a \lor b$ and $a \land b$ denote $\bigvee \{a, b\}$ and $\bigwedge \{a, b\}$, respectively.

Proposition 2.1.17 Let P be a partially ordered set. Then for all $y \in P$,

1. y is the empty meet if and only if it is a top (greatest) element and

2. y is the empty join if and only if it is a bottom (least) element.

Proof.

1. Suppose $y = \bigwedge \emptyset$. Every $z \in P$ is a lower bound of \emptyset : for the condition

if $x \in \emptyset$ then $z \leq x$

is satisfied vacuously. Therefore $z \leq y$, so y is greater than every other element of P. Conversely, if y is top then it is a lower bound for \emptyset (because everything is) and it is greater than all the other lower bounds (because it's greater than everything), so

$$y = \bigwedge \emptyset.$$

2. Suppose $y = \bigvee \emptyset$. Every $z \in P$ is a upper bound of \emptyset : for the condition

if $x \in \emptyset$ then $x \leq z$

is satisfied vacuously. Therefore $y \leq z$, so y is less than every other element of P. Conversely, if y is bottom then it is an upper bound for \emptyset (because everything is) and it is less than all the other upper bounds (because it's less than everything), so

$$y = \bigvee \emptyset$$

Empty meets and joins need not exist. We have already seen an example (see Figure 2.1) that had two minimal elements g and h, but no least element. A least element would have to be less than everything else. Thus this example does not have an empty join, although it does have an empty meet, namely a.

An empty meet (top) is often written as \top , and an empty join (bottom) as \perp .

Example 2.1.18 In logic, meets are conjunctions and joins are disjunctions. We are thinking of \leq as meaning \Rightarrow .

- meets.
 - First, $P \sqcap Q = \bigwedge \{P, Q\}$, a meet for the set $\{P, Q\}$. We check

 $P \sqcap Q \Rightarrow P \text{ and } P \sqcap Q \Rightarrow Q$

so that $P \sqcap Q$ is a lower bound for $\{P, Q\}$.

- Next, if R is another lower bound for $\{P, Q\}$, in other words

$$R \Rightarrow P \text{ and } R \Rightarrow Q,$$

then $R \Rightarrow P \sqcap Q$.

True is easily seen to be a top element: it holds unconditionally, so anything implies true: $P \Rightarrow true$.

• joins.

- First,
$$P \sqcup Q = \bigvee \{P, Q\}$$
, a join for the set $\{P, Q\}$. We check

 $P \Rightarrow P \sqcup Q$ and $Q \Rightarrow P \sqcup Q$

so that $P \sqcup Q$ is an upper bound for $\{P, Q\}$.

- Next, if R is another upper bound for $\{P, Q\}$, in other words

$$P \Rightarrow R \text{ and } Q \Rightarrow R,$$

then $P \sqcup Q \Rightarrow R$.

False is bottom because of the standard logical idea that if we assume a contradiction then we can prove anything: $false \Rightarrow P$.

Example 2.1.19 In set theory, meets are intersections and joins are unions. We work with subsets of a "universe" U, and \leq is set inclusion, \subseteq .

- First, meets. Clearly if each X_i is a subset of U, then
 - $-\bigcap_i X_i \subseteq X_i$ for all i.
 - If $Y \subseteq X_i$ for all i and $y \in Y$, then $y \in X_i$ for all i and so $y \in \bigcap_i X_i$. Therefore $Y \subseteq \bigcap_i X_i$.
 - The empty meet is the top subset, U itself.
- Next, joins. Clearly if each X_i is a subset of U, then
 - $-X_i \subseteq \bigcup_i X_i$ for all i.
 - If $X_i \subseteq Y$ for all i and $x \in \bigcup_i X_i$, then $x \in X_i$ for some i and so $x \in Y$. Therefore $\bigcup_i X_i \subseteq Y$.
 - The empty join is the bottom subset, \emptyset .

To summarize, the relation of orders, logic and sets is the following Figure 2.3:

Orders	Logic	Sets
\leq	\Rightarrow	\subseteq
=	\Leftrightarrow	=
$top, \top,$	true	universe
empty meet, $\bigwedge \emptyset$		
bottom, \perp ,	false	Ø
$empty \ join, \ \bigvee \emptyset$		
meet, Λ ,	conjunction,	intersection, \cap
greatest lower bound, glb,	and, \wedge	
infimum, inf		
$join, \vee,$	disjunction,	union, \cup
least upper bound, lub,	or, \vee	
supremum, sup		

Figure 2.3: The relation of orders, logic and sets.

2.1.4 Lattices

Definition 2.1.20 (lattice) A partially ordered set P is a *lattice* if and only if all twoelement subsets have meets and joins.

Let \sqsubseteq be a binary relation on a lattice defined by

 $x \sqsubseteq y$ if and only if $x \lor y = y$.

Remark 2.1.21 Let a structure $\mathbf{L} = \langle L, \sqsubseteq \rangle$ be a *lattice*. Then for $a, b \in L$, the following are equivalent.

- 1. $a \sqsubseteq b$,
- 2. $a \lor b = b$ and
- 3. $a \wedge b = a$.

Proof.

• $a \sqsubseteq b$ if and only if $a \lor b = b$.

Suppose $a \sqsubseteq b$. Then b is an upper bound of $\{a, b\}$. If c is an upper bound of $\{a, b\}$, $b \sqsubseteq c$ from definition. It means that b is the least upper bound of $\{a, b\}$, i.e., b is the supremum. Therefore $a \lor b = b$. Conversely suppose $a \lor b = b$. Then

$$a \sqsubseteq a \lor b = b$$
,

and hence $a \sqsubseteq b$.

• $a \sqsubseteq b$ if and only if $a \land b = a$.

Suppose $a \sqsubseteq b$. Then *a* is a lower bound of $\{a, b\}$. If *c* is a lower bound of $\{a, b\}$, $c \sqsubseteq a$ from definition. It means that *a* is the greatest lower bound of $\{a, b\}$, i.e., *a* is the infimum. Therefore $a \land b = a$. Conversely suppose $a \land b = a$. Then

$$a = a \wedge b \sqsubseteq b,$$

and hence $a \sqsubseteq b$.

Proposition 2.1.22 Let a structure $\mathbf{L} = \langle L, \vee, \wedge \rangle$ be a lattice. Then for every $a, b, c \in L$, it satisfies the following conditions.

- 1. $a \lor a = a$, $a \land a = a$ (idempotence),
- 2. $a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$, $a \land (b \land c) = (a \land b) \land c$ (associativity),
- 3. $a \lor b = b \lor a$, $a \land b = b \land a$ (commutativity),
- 4. $a \lor (a \land b) = a$, $a \land (a \lor b) = a$ (absorption).

Proof. 1 and 3 are immediate. We show 2 and 4.

- 1. (associativity).
 - (a) $a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$.

Suppose that $a \lor (b \lor c) = d$. It suffices to show that d is the least upper bound of $\{a \lor b, c\}$. First, since $a \sqsubseteq d$ and $b \lor c \sqsubseteq d$, $a \sqsubseteq d$, $b \sqsubseteq d$ and $c \sqsubseteq d$. From $a \sqsubseteq d$ and $b \sqsubseteq d$, $a \lor b \sqsubseteq d$, and then d is one of the upper bound of $\{a \lor b, c\}$. Next, suppose that e is an arbitrary one of the upper bound of $\{a \lor b, c\}$. Then $a \sqsubseteq e, b \sqsubseteq e$ and $c \sqsubseteq e$. From $b \sqsubseteq e$ and $c \sqsubseteq e, b \lor c \sqsubseteq e$, and then e is also one of the upper bound of $\{a, b \lor c\}$. Since d is the least upper bound of $\{a, b \lor c\}$, $d \sqsubseteq e$. Therefore d is the least upper bound of $\{a \lor b, c\}$, and then

$$a \lor (b \lor c) = d = (a \lor b) \lor c.$$

(b) $a \wedge (b \wedge c) = (a \wedge b) \wedge c$.

Suppose that $a \wedge (b \wedge c) = d$. It suffices to show that d is the greatest lower bound of $\{a \wedge b, c\}$. First, since $d \sqsubseteq a$ and $d \sqsubseteq b \wedge c$, $d \sqsubseteq a$, $d \sqsubseteq b$ and $d \sqsubseteq c$. From $d \sqsubseteq a$ and $d \sqsubseteq b$, $d \sqsubseteq a \wedge b$, and then d is one of the lower bound of $\{a \wedge b, c\}$. Next, suppose that e is an arbitrary one of the lower bound of $\{a \wedge b, c\}$. Then $e \sqsubseteq a$, $e \sqsubseteq b$ and $e \sqsubseteq c$. From $e \sqsubseteq b$ and $e \sqsubseteq c$, $e \sqsubseteq b \wedge c$, and then e is also one of the lower bound of $\{a, b \wedge c\}$. Since d is the greatest lower bound of $\{a, b \wedge c\}$, $e \sqsubseteq d$. Therefore d is the greatest lower bound of $\{a \wedge b, c\}$, and then

$$a \wedge (b \wedge c) = d = (a \wedge b) \wedge c.$$

2. (absorption).

(a) a ∨ (a ∧ b) = a. a ∨ (a ∧ b) = a means a ∧ b ⊑ a, and it is trivial.
(b) a ∧ (a ∨ b) = a. a ∧ (a ∨ b) = a means a ⊑ a ∨ b, and it is also trivial.

Definition 2.1.23 (distributive) A lattice L is *distributive* if and only if for every $a, b, c \in L$ we have

$$a \wedge (b \vee c) = (a \wedge b) \vee (a \wedge c),$$

i.e., \wedge distributes over $\lor,$ in the same way as, for numbers, multiplication distributes over addition.

Proposition 2.1.24 In a distributive lattice L, \vee also distributes over \wedge .

Proof.

$$(a \lor b) \land (a \lor c) = \{(a \lor b) \land a\} \lor \{(a \lor b) \land c\}$$
$$= a \lor \{c \land (a \lor b)\}$$
$$= a \lor \{(c \land a) \lor (c \land b)\}$$
$$= \{a \lor (c \land a)\} \lor (b \land c)$$
$$= a \lor (b \land c)$$

Remark 2.1.25 A lattice does not satisfy the distributivity of \lor and \land in general, i.e.,

• $(a \land b) \lor (a \land c) \sqsubseteq a \land (b \lor c)$, but does not hold

$$a \wedge (b \lor c) \sqsubseteq (a \wedge b) \lor (a \wedge c)$$

and

• $a \lor (b \land c) \sqsubseteq (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)$, but does not hold

$$(a \lor b) \land (a \lor c) \sqsubseteq a \lor (b \land c).$$

Example 2.1.26 If U is a set, then we have already seen that its power set $\mathcal{P}(U)$ is a lattice (it actually has all meets and joins, not just the finite ones). It is distributive.

Example 2.1.27 A partially ordered set P is *linearly* ordered if any two elements are comparable:

if
$$x, y \in P$$
 then either $x \leq y$ or $y \leq x$ (or both, if and only if $x = y$).

Such a partially ordered set has all binary meets and joins, for instance

$$x \wedge y = min(x, y) = x$$
 if $x \le y$,

$$x \wedge y = min(x, y) = y$$
 if $y \le x$.

Example 2.1.28 Two Non-examples of distributive lattices can be drawn using diagrams as follows:



Figure 2.4: Distributive lattices.

- 1. Consider the left-hand example. First of all, it is a lattice. The nullary meets and joins are d_1 and e_1 , and we know binary meets and joins of comparable elements always exist. All that is left to check are meets and joins for the incomparable pairs $\{a, c\}$ and $\{b, c\}$. These are as written in the diagram, i.e., d_1 and e_1 , and they are
 - $d_1 = a \lor c = b \lor c$ and
 - $e_1 = a \wedge c = b \wedge c$

respectively. However, the lattice is not distributive, because

$$a \wedge (b \vee c) = a \wedge d_1 = a \neq b = b \vee e_1 = (a \wedge b) \vee (a \wedge c).$$

- 2. Consider the right-hand example. The nullary meets and joins are d_2 and e_2 . Meets and joins for the incomparable pairs $\{a, b\}$, $\{a, c\}$ and $\{b, c\}$ are as written in the diagram, i.e., d_2 and e_2 , and they are
 - $d_2 = a \lor b = a \lor c = b \lor c$ and
 - $e_2 = a \wedge b = a \wedge c = b \wedge c$

respectively. However, the lattice is not also distributive, because

$$a \wedge (b \vee c) = a \wedge d_2 = a \neq e_2 = e_2 \vee e_2 = (a \wedge b) \vee (a \wedge c).$$

Proposition 2.1.29 Let P be a partially ordered set in which every subset has a join. Then every subset has a meet.

Proof. Let $S \subseteq P$, and let L be the set of its lower bounds. If a meet (greatest lower bound) of S exists, then it must be $\forall L$. Thus all we need to show is that $\forall L$ is a lower bound of S. But if $x \in S$ and $y \in L$, then $y \leq x$, so $\forall L \leq x$.

Definition 2.1.30 (complete lattice) A partially ordered set P is a *complete lattice* if and only if every subset has a join and a meet.

Example 2.1.31 For a given set U, a structure $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{U}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(U), \cup, \cap \rangle$ forms a complete lattice, where \cup and \cap are the usual set theoretic operations, union and intersection.

Remark 2.1.32 In a complete lattice $\langle X, \vee \rangle$, the greatest and the least element exist: in fact

- $\top := \bigvee X$,
- $\bot := \bigwedge X$.

Remark 2.1.33 We can define a mapping \wedge (the infimum) of $\mathcal{P}(X)$ into X by

 $\bigwedge Y := \bigvee \{ z \mid z \sqsubseteq y \text{ for all } y \in Y \}.$

2.2 Fixed Point Theorem

In the discussion of interpretation for the exponential !, Engberg and Winskel use the *fixed point theorem*. For an element a of a quantale (it is given in Chapter 4), as an interpretation of !a, they require an element x such that it is the greatest fixed point of a function. Therefore, we introduce the basic fixed point theorem here.

First we discuss monotone and fixed point, and then we show the least (greatest) fixed point theorem below.

• monotone:

Given a complete lattice L, a function $h: L \longrightarrow L$ is monotone if and only if

if
$$x \sqsubseteq y$$
, then $h(x) \sqsubseteq h(y)$ for all $x, y \in L$.

• fixed point:

An element $x \in L$ is a *fixed point* of h if and only if

$$x = h(x).$$

Theorem 2.2.1 (fixed point) Let L be a complete lattice and h be a monotone mapping on L. Then h has a fixed point.

Proof. Suppose

$$D = \{ x \in L \mid h(x) \sqsubseteq x \}$$

and maximum of L is 1. Then D is not empty since $1 \in D$ is immediate, and so $\wedge D$ exists. Therefore, we may assume $a = \wedge D$, and it suffices to show that a is a fixed point of h. Suppose that $x \in D$, then $a \sqsubseteq x$. Since h is monotone,

$$h(a) \sqsubseteq h(x) \sqsubseteq x,$$

and hence h(a) is a lower bound of D. Since a is the infimum of D,

 $h(a) \sqsubseteq a$,

and using monotone of h, $h(h(a)) \sqsubseteq h(a)$. This means $h(a) \in D$. Since the infimum of D is a,

 $a \sqsubseteq h(a).$

It follows that h(a) = a, and hence $a \ (= \wedge D)$ is a fixed point of h.

Theorem 2.2.2 (least fixed point) Let L be a complete lattice and h be a monotone mapping on L. Then h has the least fixed point:

$$\bigwedge \{ x \in L \mid h(x) \sqsubseteq x \}.$$

Proof. Suppose

$$D = \{ x \in L \mid h(x) \sqsubseteq x \}.$$

Since we have shown that h has at least one fixed point in Theorem 2.2.1, we show a fixed point a in 2.2.1 is the least fixed point. Suppose that b is a fixed point of h, then h(b) = b, and hence $b \in D$. Since a is the infimum of D, $a \sqsubseteq b$, and hence a is the least fixed point.

Theorem 2.2.3 (greatest fixed point) Let L be a complete lattice and h be a monotone mapping on L. Then h has a fixed point, and especially,

$$\bigvee \{ x \in L \mid x \sqsubseteq h(x) \}$$

is the greatest fixed point of L.

Proof. We can prove similarly. Suppose

$$D = \{ x \in L \mid x \sqsubseteq h(x) \}$$

and minimum of L is \perp . Then D is not empty since $\perp \in D$ is immediate, and so $\forall D$ exists. Therefore, we may assume $a = \forall D$, and it suffices to show that a is a fixed point of h. Suppose that $x \in D$, then $x \sqsubseteq a$. Since h is monotone,

$$x \sqsubseteq h(x) \sqsubseteq h(a),$$

and hence h(a) is an upper bound of D. Since a is the supremum of D,

 $a \sqsubseteq h(a),$

and using monotone of h, $h(a) \sqsubseteq h(h(a))$. This means $h(a) \in D$. Since the supremum of D is a,

$$h(a) \sqsubseteq a$$
.

It follows that a = h(a), and hence $a = (\lor D)$ is a fixed point of h.

Next we show a fixed point a is the greatest fixed point. Suppose that b is a fixed point of h, then b = h(b), and hence $b \in D$. Since a is the supremum of D, $b \sqsubseteq a$, and hence a is the greatest fixed point.

Remark 2.2.4 In chapter 4, when we discuss the definition of the exponential on the complete lattice L, we use the greatest fixed point theorem.

The monotone mapping h is

$$h: x \longrightarrow a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x).$$

Then the greatest fixed point p is defined as

$$\bigvee \{ x \in L \mid x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x) \}.$$

Chapter 3

Petri Nets

In this chapter, we discuss Petri nets. For background material on Petri nets, see [40, 41] and on the relation between Petri nets and multisets, see [9, 18, 32].

3.1 Petri Nets and Multisets

Petri nets is a general purpose mathematical model for describing relations existing between conditions and events.

Petri nets consist of two types of elements, places and transitions. Each place models a process in terms of types of resources, and can hold arbitrary nonnegative multiplicity. Each transition represents a state transition rule, i.e., how those resources are consumed or produced by actions. They are described using the notion of multisets.

First we define Petri nets, and then we discuss the relation between Petri nets and multisets with some examples.

Definition 3.1.1 (Petri net) A Petri net N is a quadruple $\langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ such that

- 1. P is a set (of places),
- 2. T is a set (of transitions),
- 3. $\bullet(-), (-)^{\bullet}$ are mappings of T into \mathcal{M}_{P} (i.e., the set of all multisets over a set P), where for $t \in T$,
 - (a) $\bullet(t)$ is called the pre-multiset of t and
 - (b) $(t)^{\bullet}$ is called the post-multiset of t

respectively. Each element of $\mathcal{M}_{\rm P}$ is called a marking, and in the sequel, we shall use simply \mathcal{M} for $\mathcal{M}_{\rm P}$.

A firing of transitions transforms the given marking into another one; firing a single transition t subtracts (adds) n from (to) the mark m in place A if there is an arrow with label n from A to t (t to A). Firing of transitions gives the result of firing transitions in some other.

Graphically we can represent a Petri net by drawing the places as circles, the transitions as squares, and an arrow from place A to transition t (from transition t to place A) labeled with $n \in \mathcal{N} \setminus 0$ if $(A, t) \in (-)$ $((t, A) \in (-)^{\bullet})$ with multiplicity n (n = 1 usually)omitted) (respectively). A marking can be indicated in a graphical representation of a Petri net by inscribing the multiplicities in the circles.

For understanding of the relation between Petri nets and multisets, We give the following examples.

Example 3.1.2 Consider the following two nets, net-1 and net-2.



Figure 3.1: Petri net - I.

• net-1:

We show a Petri net $N = \langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ with $P = \{a, b, c\}$ and $T = \{t\}$. Premultiset $\bullet(t)$ is [a, b] and post-multiset $(t)\bullet$ is [c] respectively. Graphically this becomes like net-1.

- Suppose that there are one token in a and in b respectively. A firing of transition t changes the marking from [a, b] to [c].
- Suppose that there are two tokens in a and in b respectively, then a firing of transition t changes the marking from [a, a, b, b] to [a, b, c].
- net-2:

We show a Petri net N = $\langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ with $P = \{a, b, c\}$ and $T = \{t_1, t_2\}$. Pre-multiset $\bullet(t_1)$ and $\bullet(t_2)$ are [a] and [b], and post-multiset $(t_1)\bullet$ and $(t_2)\bullet$ are [c] respectively. Graphically this becomes like net-2.

- Suppose that there are one token in a and in b respectively. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, b] to [b, c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [b, c] to [c, c].
- Suppose that there are two tokens in a and one token in b. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, a, b] to [a, b, c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [a, b, c] to [a, c, c].

Example 3.1.3 Consider the following net, net-3.



Figure 3.2: Petri net - II.

We show a Petri net N = $\langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ with $P = \{a, b, c\}$ and $T = \{t_1, t_2\}$. Pre-multiset $\bullet(t_1)$ and $\bullet(t_2)$ are [a, b] and [c], and post-multiset $(t_1)\bullet$ and $(t_2)\bullet$ are [c] and [a] respectively. Graphically this becomes like net-3.

Suppose that there are two tokens in a and one token in b. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, a, b] to [a, c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [a, c] to [a, a].

3.2 Reachability Relation

Next, we discuss the reachability relation \square . It is the reflexive and transitive relation defined as follows.

Definition 3.2.1 (reachability relation) Let $N = \langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ be a Petri net. Then we define a relation \square on \mathcal{M} called the *reachability relation* of N as follows:

1. For $t \in T$, let $[t\rangle$ be a relation on \mathcal{M} such that

$$m[t\rangle m'$$
 if and only if $m = m'' + {}^{\bullet} t$ and $t^{\bullet} + m'' = m'$

for some $m'' \in \mathcal{M}$.

2. Let \square be a relation on \mathcal{M} such that

 $m \supseteq m'$ if and only if $m[t_1\rangle m_1[t_2\rangle m_2[t_3\rangle \cdots [t_n\rangle m_n = m'$

for some $t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_n \in T, m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_n \in \mathcal{M}$ and $n \ge 0$.

We show the reachability relation \square using the net-3 of Figure 3.2.

Example 3.2.2 Consider the net-3 of Figure 3.2.

• Suppose that there are one token in a and in b. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, b] to [c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [c] to [a]. This means that

 $[a,b] [t_1\rangle [c] [t_2\rangle [a]$

and we have

 $[a,b] {\scriptsize \square} {\scriptsize \square} [a].$

• Next suppose that there are one token in a and two tokens in b. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, b, b] to [b, c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [b, c] to [a, b]. Then a firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, b] to [c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [a, b] to [c], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [c] to [a]. This means that

$$[a, b, b] [t_1\rangle [b, c] [t_2\rangle [a, b] [t_1\rangle [c] [t_2\rangle [a]$$

and we have

$$[a, b, b] \supset [a].$$

For a Petri net N, we define structures $\mathbf{M}_{N} = \langle \mathcal{M}, +, [] \rangle$ and $\mathbf{X}_{N} = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box \rangle, +, [] \rangle$.

Proposition 3.2.3 A structure $\mathbf{M}_{N} = \langle \mathcal{M}, +, [] \rangle$ is a commutative monoid.

Proof. In fact, we can show that a structure defined as above satisfies the conditions of Definition 2.1.5, for every $m, m', m'' \in \mathcal{M}$,

- 1. m + (m' + m'') = (m + m') + m'',
- 2. m + [] = [] + m = m,
- 3. m + m' = m' + m.

Proposition 3.2.4 A structure $\mathbf{X}_{N} = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box \rangle, +, [] \rangle$ is a preordered commutative monoid.

Proof. In fact, we can show that a structure defined as above satisfies the conditions of Definition 2.1.11, for every $m, m', m'' \in \mathcal{M}$,

- 1. $\langle \mathcal{M}, +, [] \rangle$ is a commutative monoid,
- 2. a structure $\langle \mathcal{M}, \Box \rangle$ holds Definition 2.1.9 since
 - (a) $m \triangleright m$,
 - (b) if $m \, \square \, m'$ and $m' \, \square \, m''$, then $m \, \square \, m''$,
- 3. if $x \square x'$ and $y \square y'$, then $x + y \square x' + y'$.

We show the conditions 2(b) and 3 of Proposition 3.2.4 with the example net-3 of Figure 3.2.

Example 3.2.5 Consider the net-3 of Figure 3.2.

• Suppose that m = [a, a, a, b, b, b], and then m' = [c, c, c] and m'' = [a, a, a], i.e.,

 $[a, a, a, b, b, b] \square [c, c, c]$ and $[c, c, c] \square [a, a, a]$.

Since $m \triangleright m' = [a, a, a, b, b, b] \triangleright [c, c, c]$ and $m' \triangleright m'' = [c, c, c] \triangleright [a, a, a]$, then $[a, a, a, b, b, b] \triangleright [a, a, a]$, i.e.,

if $m \square m'$ and $m' \square m''$, then $m \square m''$.

• Suppose that x = [a, b] and y = [a, a, b, b], and then x' = [c] and y' = [c, c], i.e.,

$$[a,b] \square [c]$$
 and $[a,a,b,b] \square [c,c]$.

Since x + y = [a, b] + [a, a, b, b] = [a, a, a, b, b, b] and x' + y' = [c] + [c, c] = [c, c, c], then $[a, a, a, b, b, b] \square [c, c, c]$, i.e.,

$$x + y \, \triangleright \, x' + y'.$$

Chapter 4

Quantales and Closure Operations

In this chapter, we discuss IL-algebras (intuitionistic linear algebras) and quantales, and introduce closure operations on the algebras. Moreover, we discuss exponential ! and quantales with exponential. For background material on the algebras, see [2, 4, 38, 39, 42, 43, 50].

4.1 IL-algebras and Quantales

Algebraic semantics for linear logic, as presented here, is for linear logic what Booleanvalued models are for classical logic, and Heyting-valued models for intuitionistic logic.

4.1.1 IL-algebras

Definition 4.1.1 (IL-algebra) A structure $\mathbf{A} = \langle A, \wedge, \vee, \bot, -\bullet, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is an IL-algebra if

- 1. $\langle A, \wedge, \vee, \bot \rangle$ is a *lattice* with the least element \bot ,
- 2. $\langle A, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a commutative monoid with unit 1,
- 3. if $x \sqsubseteq x'$, $y \sqsubseteq y'$, then $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq x' \bullet y'$ and $x' \bullet y \sqsubseteq x \bullet y'$,

4. $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$ if and only if $x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$ for all $x, y, z \in A$.

Lemma 4.1.2 In any IL-algebra $\mathbf{A} = \langle A, \wedge, \vee, \bot, -\bullet, \bullet, 1 \rangle$, for all x, y, z in A,

- 1. $z \bullet (x \lor y) = (z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet y)$, and moreover, if the join $\bigvee_{i \in I} y_i$ exists, then $x \bullet \bigvee_{i \in I} y_i = \bigvee_{i \in I} (x \bullet y_i)$,
- 2. $x \rightarrow (y \rightarrow z) = x \bullet y \rightarrow z$,
- 3. $\perp -\bullet \perp$ is top of $A \ (\top := \perp -\bullet \perp)$.

Proof.

1. Suppose that $z \bullet (x \lor y) \sqsubseteq v$. Since $x \lor y \sqsubseteq z \multimap v$, $x \sqsubseteq z \multimap v$ and $y \sqsubseteq z \multimap v$. Therefore $x \bullet z \sqsubseteq v$ and $y \bullet z \sqsubseteq v$, and hence $(z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet y) \sqsubseteq v$. We can prove the converse similarly.

2. Suppose that $u \sqsubseteq x \multimap (y \multimap z)$. Then $u \mathrel{\bullet} x \sqsubseteq y \multimap z$, and hence $u \mathrel{\bullet} x \mathrel{\bullet} y \sqsubseteq z$. Therefore $u \sqsubseteq x \mathrel{\bullet} y \multimap z$. Similarly we can prove the converse.

3. Since $\bot \sqsubseteq x \multimap \bot$, $\bot \bullet x \sqsubseteq \bot$. Therefore $x \sqsubseteq \bot \multimap \bot$, and hence $\top = \bot \multimap \bot$.

Proposition 4.1.3 A definition of IL-algebra is obtained replacing Definition 3 of 4.1.1 by $z \bullet (x \lor y) = (z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet y)$.

Proof. Assume Definition 1, 2 and 4 of 4.1.1 and $z \bullet (x \lor y) = (z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet y)$. If $x \sqsubseteq x'$, then $x \lor x' = x'$. Therefore

$$z \bullet (x \lor x') = (z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet x')$$
$$= z \bullet x',$$

and hence $z \bullet x \sqsubseteq z \bullet x'$. Also assume $x \sqsubseteq x'$. Since $z \sqsubseteq x' \multimap y$ if and only if $z \bullet x' \sqsubseteq y$, $z \bullet x \sqsubseteq y$. Therefore $z \sqsubseteq x \multimap y$, and so $x' \multimap y \sqsubseteq x \multimap y$.

Definition 4.1.4 (complete IL-algebra) A structure $\mathbf{A} = \langle A, -\bullet, \lor, \land, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a *complete* IL-algebra if

- 1. $\langle A, \wedge, \vee \rangle$ is a complete lattice,
- 2. $\langle A, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a commutative monoid with unit 1,
- 3. $(\forall x_i) \bullet y = \forall (x_i \bullet y)$ for all $x_i, y \in A$,
- 4. $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$ if and only if $x \sqsubseteq y \multimap z$ for all $x, y, z \in A$.

Proposition 4.1.5 Let $\mathbf{M} = \langle M, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a commutative monoid with the identity e, and for each $X, Y \subseteq M$, define sets $X \bullet Y$ and $Y \bullet Z$ of M by

- 1. $X \bullet Y := \{x \cdot y \mid x \in X, y \in Y\},\$
- 2. $Y \rightarrow Z := \{x \in M \mid x \cdot y \in Z \text{ for all } y \in Y\}.$

Then the structure

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), -\bullet, \cup, \cap, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle$$

where \cup and \cap are the usual set-theoretic operations, is a complete IL-algebra.

Proof.

- 1. 1 and 2 of Definition 4.1.4 are trivial.
- 2. For 3 of Definition 4.1.4, we show that

$$(\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y = \bigcup (X_i \bullet Y).$$

Suppose that $x \in (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$. Then $x = y \cdot z$ for some $y \in \bigcup X_i$ and some $z \in Y$. Therefore $y \in X_i$ for some *i*, and so $x \in X_i \bullet Y$. Since $x_i \bullet Y \subseteq \bigcup (X_i \bullet Y)$, $x \in \bigcup (x_i \bullet Y)$. Conversely suppose that $X_j \subseteq \bigcup X_i$. Then $X_j \bullet Y \subseteq (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$. Therefore $\bigcup (X_j \bullet Y) \subseteq (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$. 3. For Definition 4 of 4.1.4, we show that

 $X \bullet Y \subseteq Z$ if and only if $X \subseteq Y - \bullet Z$.

If $x \in X$, then $x \cdot y \in X \bullet Y$ for all $y \in Y$. Therefore $x \cdot y \in Z$, and so $x \in Y - \bullet Z$. Thus $X \subseteq Y - \bullet Z$. Conversely for all $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$, since $X \subseteq Y - \bullet Z$, $x \cdot y \in Z$. Therefore $X \bullet Y \subseteq Z$.

Remark 4.1.6 The structure $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), -\bullet, \cup, \cap, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle$ satisfies a law not generally valid in IL-algebras: distributivity of the lattice operations.

The simplest way to see that distributivity of the lattice operations does not hold in general, is to verify that the sequent

$$A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)$$

is not derivable, since this means that the IL-algebra constructed from Intuitionistic linear logic or classical linear logic by means of the Lindenbaum construction does not obey distributivity.

4.1.2 Quantales

Definition 4.1.7 (commutative quantale) A structure $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a commutative quantale if

- 1. $\langle Q, \vee \rangle$ is a complete lattice,
- 2. $\langle Q, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a commutative monoid,
- 3. $(\forall x_i) \bullet y = \forall (x_i \bullet y)$ for all $x_i, y \in Q$.

We shall use simply quantale for commutative quantale with unit.

Remark 4.1.8 Define a binary operation $-\bullet$ on **Q** by

$$y - \bullet z := \bigvee \{ x \mid x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}.$$

Then

$$x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$$
 if and only if $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$.

Proposition 4.1.9 Let $\mathbf{M} = \langle M, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a commutative monoid with the identity e, and for each $X, Y \subseteq M$, define a subset $X \bullet Y$ of M by

$$X \bullet Y := \{ x \cdot y \mid x \in X, y \in Y \}.$$

Then the structure

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), \cup, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle$$

is a quantale.

Proof.

- 1. 1 and 2 of Definition 4.1.7 are trivial.
- 2. For 3 of Definition 4.1.7, we show that

$$(\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y = \bigcup (X_i \bullet Y).$$

Suppose that $x \in (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$. Then $x = y \cdot z$ for some $y \in \bigcup X_i$ and some $z \in Y$. Therefore $y \in X_i$ for some i, and so $x \in X_i \bullet Y$. Since $x_i \bullet Y \subseteq \bigcup (X_i \bullet Y)$, $x \in \bigcup (x_i \bullet Y)$. Conversely suppose that $X_j \subseteq \bigcup X_i$. Then $X_j \bullet Y \subseteq (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$. Therefore $\bigcup (X_j \bullet Y) \subseteq (\bigcup X_i) \bullet Y$.

Remark 4.1.10 In the quantale P(M),

$$Y - \bullet Z := \bigcup \{ X \mid X \bullet Y \subseteq Z \}$$

= $\{ x \in M \mid x \cdot y \in Z \text{ for all } y \in Y \}$

Remark 4.1.11 It is easy to show that a complete IL-algebra is just a quantale, in which $y \rightarrow z$ is defined by

$$y - \bullet z := \bigvee \{ x \mid x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}.$$

Proposition 4.1.12 A structure is a complete IL-algebra if and only if it is a quantale.

Proof. It is trivial that if a structure is a complete IL-algebra, then it is a quantale. We show that if a structure is a quantale, then it is a complete IL-algebra. Define

$$y - \bullet z := \bigvee \{ x \mid x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}$$

Then we show that a commutative quantale is always a complete IL-algebra.

- 1. 1, 2 and 3 of Definition 4.1.4 are trivial.
- 2. For 4 of Definition 4.1.4, we show that

$$x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$$
 if and only if $x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$.

Suppose that $y - z := \bigvee \{ u | u \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}$. If $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$, then $x \in \{ u \mid u \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}$, and hence $x \sqsubseteq y - z$. Conversely if $x \sqsubseteq y - z$, then

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x \bullet y & \sqsubseteq & (y \multimap z) \bullet y \\ & = & (\bigvee \{ u \mid u \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}) \bullet y \\ & = & \bigvee \{ u \bullet y \mid u \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \} \\ & \sqsubseteq & z, \end{array}$$

and hence $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$.

thing.

The proposition shows that complete IL-algebras and quantales amount to the same

Corollary 4.1.13 A structure $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}_N) := \langle \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}), \cup, \bullet, \{[]\} \rangle$ is a quantale, where $X \bullet Y := \{m + m' \mid m \in X, m' \in Y\}.$

(Note that a structure $\mathbf{M}_N = \langle \mathcal{M}, +, [\,] \rangle$ is a commutative monoid.)

Remark 4.1.14 In the quantale $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}_{N})$,

$$Y - \bullet Z := \bigcup \{ X \mid X \bullet Y \subseteq Z \}$$

= $\{ m \in \mathcal{M} \mid m + m' \in Z \text{ for all } m' \in Y \}.$

4.2 Closure Operations on IL-algebras and Quantales

Next, we discuss closure operations on the IL-algebras and the quantales which play a crucial role in the proof of completeness.

4.2.1 Closure Operation

Definition 4.2.1 (closure operation) An operation C on a quantale $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a *closure operation* on Q if

- 1. $x \sqsubseteq Cx$,
- 2. if $x \sqsubseteq y$ then $Cx \sqsubseteq Cy$,
- 3. $CCx \sqsubseteq Cx$,
- 4. $Cx \bullet Cy \sqsubseteq C(x \bullet y)$.

An element x of Q is C-closed if x = Cx holds. C(Q) denotes the set of all C-closed elements of Q.

Lemma 4.2.2 $C(Cx \lor Cy) = C(x \lor y)$ holds for every $x, y \in Q$.

Proof. Since $C(x \lor y) \sqsubseteq C(Cx \lor Cy)$ is trivial, we show that

$$C(Cx \lor Cy) \sqsubseteq C(x \lor y).$$

 $x \sqsubseteq x \lor y$ and $y \sqsubseteq x \lor y$, then $Cx \sqsubseteq C(x \lor y)$ and $Cy \sqsubseteq C(x \lor y)$. Therefore $(Cx \lor Cy) \sqsubseteq C(x \lor y)$, and hence

$$C(Cx \lor Cy) \subseteq CC(x \lor y)$$

= $C(x \lor y).$

Lemma 4.2.3 $C(Cx \bullet Cy) = C(x \bullet y)$ holds for every $x, y \in Q$.

Proof. Since $C(x \bullet y) \sqsubseteq C(Cx \bullet Cy)$ is trivial, we show that

$$C(Cx \bullet Cy) \sqsubseteq C(x \bullet y).$$

Since $Cx \bullet Cy \sqsubseteq C(x \bullet y)$ (4 of Definition 4.2.1),

$$C(Cx \bullet Cy) \sqsubseteq CC(x \bullet y) = C(x \bullet y).$$

4.2.2 Closure Operation on IL-algebras

Proposition 4.2.4 If C is a closure operation on an IL-algebra $\mathbf{A} = \langle A, \wedge, \vee, \bot, -\bullet, \bullet, 1 \rangle$, then

 $\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{A}) = \langle C(A), \wedge, \vee_C, C \bot, -\bullet, \bullet_C, C 1 \rangle$

is also an IL-algebra, where \lor_C and \bullet_C are defined by

$$1. \ \lor_C x_i := C(\lor x_i),$$

2.
$$x \bullet_C y := C(x \bullet y).$$

Proof. We show that a structure $\langle C(A), \wedge, \vee_C, C \perp, -\bullet, \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ defined as above holds Definition 4.1.1. The proof of that if $a, b \in C(Q)$, then $a \wedge b \in C(Q)$, $a \vee_C b \in C(Q)$, $a \bullet_C b \in C(Q)$ and $a - \bullet b \in C(Q)$, and 1 of definition will be shown later (see the proof of Proposition 4.2.5. Now we show 2, 3 and 4 of definition.

- 1. We show that a structure $(C(A), \land, \lor_C, C \bot, \bullet_C, C1)$ is a commutative monoid with unit 1.
 - (a) For $a \bullet_C (b \bullet_C c) = (a \bullet_C b) \bullet_C c$, $a \bullet_C (b \bullet_C c) = C(a \bullet C(b \bullet c)) = C(Ca \bullet C(b \bullet c)) = C(a \bullet (b \bullet c)) = C((a \bullet b) \bullet c) = C(C(a \bullet b) \bullet Cc) = C(C(a \bullet b) \bullet c) = C((a \bullet_c b) \bullet c) = C(a \bullet_c b) \bullet_C c$.
 - (b) For $a \bullet_C C1 = C1 \bullet_C a = a$, $C1 \bullet_C a = C(C1 \bullet a) = C(C1 \bullet Ca) = C(1 \bullet a) = C(a \bullet 1) = C(Ca \bullet C1) = C(a \bullet C1) = a \bullet_C C1$, and $C(1 \bullet a) = Ca = a$. Therefore C1 is the unit.
 - (c) For $a \bullet_C b = b \bullet_C a$, $a \bullet_C b = C(a \bullet b) = C(b \bullet a) = b \bullet_C a$.
- 2. We show $z \bullet_C (x \lor_C y) = (z \bullet_C x) \lor_C (z \bullet_C y)$.

$$z \bullet_C (x \lor_C y) = C(z \bullet (x \lor_C y))$$

= $C(z \bullet C(x \lor y))$
= $C(Cz \bullet C(x \lor y))$
= $C(z \bullet (x \lor y))$
= $C((z \bullet x) \lor (z \bullet y))$
= $C(C(z \bullet x) \lor C(z \bullet y))$
= $(z \bullet_C x) \lor_C (z \bullet_C y).$

3. We show $x \bullet_C y \sqsubseteq z$ if and only if $x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x \bullet_C y &=& C(x \bullet y) \\ &=& C(Cx \bullet Cy) \\ &\sqsubseteq& Cz, \end{array}$$

then $Cx \bullet Cy \sqsubseteq Cz$, and hence $x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$.

4.2.3 Closure Operation on Quantales

Proposition 4.2.5 If C is a closure operation on a quantale $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1 \rangle$, then

$$\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{Q}) = \langle C(Q), \forall_C, \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$$

is also a quantale, where \lor_C and \bullet_C are defined by

 $1. \ \lor_C x_i := C(\lor x_i),$

2.
$$x \bullet_C y := C(x \bullet y).$$

Proof. First we show that if $a, b \in C(Q)$, then $a \wedge b \in C(Q)$, $a \vee_C b \in C(Q)$, $a \bullet_C b \in C(Q)$ and $a - \bullet b \in C(Q)$.

- For $a \wedge b \in C(Q)$, since $a \wedge b \sqsubseteq a$, $C(a \wedge b) \sqsubseteq Ca = a$. Similarly since $a \wedge b \sqsubseteq b$, $C(a \wedge b) \sqsubseteq Cb = b$. Therefore $C(a \wedge b) \sqsubseteq a \wedge b \sqsubseteq C(a \wedge b)$, and so $a \wedge b \in C(Q)$.
- For $a \lor_C b \in C(Q)$, $C(a \lor_C b) = C(C(a \lor b)) = C(a \lor b) = a \lor_C b$. Therefore $a \lor_C b \in C(Q)$.
- For $a \bullet_C b \in C(Q)$, $C(a \bullet_C b) = C(C(a \bullet b)) = C(a \bullet b) = a \bullet_C b$. Therefore $a \bullet_C b \in C(Q)$.
- For $a \rightarrow b \in C(Q)$,

$$C(a - b) \bullet_C a = C(a - b) \bullet_C Ca$$

= $C(C(a - b) \bullet Ca)$
= $C((a - b) \bullet a)$
 $\Box b$

(since we can get $(a - b) \bullet a \sqsubseteq b$ from $a - b \sqsubseteq a - b$). Therefore

$$\begin{array}{rcl} C(a - b) & \sqsubseteq & a - b \\ & \sqsubseteq & C(a - b), \end{array}$$

and so $a - b \in C(Q)$.

Next we show that a structure $\mathbf{C}(\mathbf{Q}) = \langle C(Q), \vee_C, \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ defined as above holds Definition 4.1.7.

1. $\langle C(Q), \vee_C \rangle$ is a complete lattice.

We show that a structure $\langle C(Q), \vee_C \rangle$ is a lattice and holds Definition 2.1.30. It is enough to prove for \vee_C .

First we show that $\langle C(Q), \vee_C \rangle$ holds Definition 2.1.20.

(a) For $a \lor_C a = a$, $a \lor_C a = C(a \lor a) = Ca = a$.
(b) For associative $a \lor_C (b \lor_C c) = (a \lor_C b) \lor_C c$,

$$a \lor_C (b \lor_C c) = C(a \lor C(b \lor c))$$

= $C(Ca \lor C(b \lor c))$
 $\sqsubseteq C(C(a \lor (b \lor c)))$
= $C(a \lor (b \lor c))$
 $\sqsubseteq C(a \lor C(b \lor c))$
= $a \lor_C (b \lor_C c).$

Therefore $a \lor_C (b \lor_C c) = C(a \lor (b \lor c)) = C((a \lor b) \lor c) = (a \lor_C b) \lor_C c.$

(c) For
$$a \lor_C b = b \lor_C a$$
, $a \lor_C b = C(a \lor b) = C(b \lor a) = b \lor_C a$.

(d) For $a \lor_C (a \land b) = a$, $a \lor_C (a \land b) = C(a \lor (a \land b)) = Ca = a$. For $a \land (a \lor_C b) = a$,

$$a \supseteq a \land (a \lor_C b)$$

= $a \land C(a \lor b)$
$$\supseteq a \land (a \lor b)$$

= a .

Next we show that the maximum element : \top and the minimum element : $C \bot$ exist.

- (a) $\top \in C(Q)$ since $C \top \sqsubseteq \top \sqsubseteq C \top$.
- (b) Since $\perp \sqsubseteq a$ for all $a \in Q$, $C \perp \sqsubseteq Ca = a$.
- 2. $\langle C(Q), \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ is a commutative monoid.

We show that a structure $\langle C(Q), \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ is a monoid and holds Definition 2.1.5, for every $a, b, c \in C(Q)$.

First we show that $\langle C(Q), \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ holds Definition 2.1.3.

- (a) For $a \bullet_C (b \bullet_C c) = (a \bullet_C b) \bullet_C c$, $a \bullet_C (b \bullet_C c) = C(a \bullet C(b \bullet c)) = C(Ca \bullet C(b \bullet c)) = C(a \bullet (b \bullet c)) = C((a \bullet b) \bullet c) = C(C(a \bullet b) \bullet Cc) = C(C(a \bullet b) \bullet c) = C((a \bullet_c b) \bullet c) = C(a \bullet_C b) \bullet_C c$.
- (b) For $a \bullet_C C1 = C1 \bullet_C a = a$, $C1 \bullet_C a = C(C1 \bullet a) = C(C1 \bullet Ca) = C(1 \bullet a) = C(a \bullet 1) = C(Ca \bullet C1) = C(a \bullet C1) = a \bullet_C C1$, and $C(1 \bullet a) = Ca = a$. Therefore C1 is the unit.

Next we show that $\langle C(Q), \bullet_C, C1 \rangle$ holds 2 of Definition 2.1.5.

For
$$a \bullet_C b = b \bullet_C a$$
, $a \bullet_C b = C(a \bullet b) = C(b \bullet a) = b \bullet_C a$.

3. We show that \bullet_C distributes over \lor_C .

$$(\bigvee_C S) \bullet_C b = C(C(\bigvee S) \bullet b)$$
$$= C(C(\bigvee S) \bullet Cb)$$

$$= C(\bigvee S \bullet b)$$

= $C(\bigvee_{a \in S} (a \bullet b))$
= $C(\bigvee_{a \in S} C(a \bullet b))$
= $\bigvee_{a \in S_C} (a \bullet_C b).$

Therefore for every $S \subseteq C(Q)$ and $a \in S$, $(\bigvee_C S) \bullet_C b = \bigvee_{a \in S_C} (a \bullet_C b)$.

4. We show that for every $a, b, c \in C(Q)$, $a \bullet_C b \sqsubseteq c$ if and only if $a \sqsubseteq b \multimap c$. Suppose that $a \bullet_C b \sqsubseteq c$.

$$a \bullet b = Ca \bullet Cb$$
$$\sqsubseteq C(a \bullet b)$$
$$= a \bullet_C b$$
$$\sqsubseteq c,$$

and hence $a \sqsubseteq b \multimap c$. Conversely, suppose that $a \sqsubseteq b \multimap c$. Then $a \bullet b \sqsubseteq c$. Therefore $a \bullet_C b = C(a \bullet b) \sqsubseteq Cc = c$, and hence $a \bullet_C b \sqsubseteq c$. Therefore for every $a, b, c \in C(A)$, $a \bullet_C b \sqsubseteq c$ if and only if $a \sqsubseteq b \multimap c$.

Lemma 4.2.6 In the quantale C(Q), $x \wedge y$ and $x \rightarrow y$ are C-closed whenever x and y are C-closed. Hence operations \wedge and \rightarrow coincide with the original operations on Q.

Proof.

1.
$$Cx \rightarrow Cy \sqsubseteq C(Cx \rightarrow Cy)$$
 is trivial. We show $C(Cx \rightarrow Cy) \sqsubseteq Cx \rightarrow Cy)$.
 $C(Cx \rightarrow Cy) \sqsubseteq Cx \rightarrow Cy$ if and only if $C(Cx \rightarrow Cy) \bullet Cx \sqsubseteq Cy$

But

$$C(Cx - Cy) \bullet Cx \subseteq C(C(Cx - Cy) \bullet Cx)$$

= $C((Cx - Cy) \bullet Cx)$
 $\subseteq CCy$
= Cy ,

using $(u - \bullet v) \bullet u \sqsubseteq v$ and 1, 2, 3 and 4 of Definition 4.2.1.

2. $Cx \wedge Cy \sqsubseteq C(Cx \wedge Cy)$ is trivial. We show $C(Cx \wedge Cy) \sqsubseteq Cx \wedge Cy$. $Cx \wedge Cy \sqsubseteq Cx$ and $Cx \wedge Cy \sqsubseteq Cy$, hence $C(Cx \wedge Cy) \sqsubseteq Cx$ and $C(Cx \wedge Cy) \sqsubseteq Cy$, therefore $C(Cx \wedge Cy) \sqsubseteq Cx \wedge Cy$.

4.2.4 Closure Operation C_1 and C_2

Let $\mathbf{X} = \langle M, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a preordered commutative monoid. We define two closure operations C_1 and C_2 on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$.

Proposition 4.2.7 Let $\mathbf{X} = \langle M, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a preordered commutative monoid and define an operation \downarrow on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ such that

$$\downarrow X := \{ y \in M \mid \exists x \in X (y \le x) \}.$$

Then it is easy to see that \downarrow is a closure operation on the quantale $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), \cup, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle$ (see the proof of Proposition 4.2.10).

Definition 4.2.8 Let $\mathbf{X} = \langle M, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a preordered commutative monoid and define an operation C_1 on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ by

$$C_1 X := \downarrow X.$$

Definition 4.2.9 Let $\mathbf{X} = \langle M, \leq, \cdot, e \rangle$ be a preordered commutative monoid and define two operations \rightarrow and \leftarrow on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ by

$$X^{\rightarrow} := \{ y \in M \mid \forall x \in X (x \le y) \},\$$
$$X^{\leftarrow} := \{ y \in M \mid \forall x \in X (y \le x) \},\$$

and let C_2 be the operation on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X})$ defined by

$$C_2 X := (X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}.$$

 $(C_2 \text{ is called the MacNeille completion of } X, \text{ see } [14, 23, 31, 36]).$

We can easily show the following propositions (see e.g. [47]).

Proposition 4.2.10 C_1 is a closure operation on the quantale

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), \cup, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle.$$

Proof. We show that a function C_1 defined as above holds Definition 4.2.1.

- 1. If $x \in X$, then $x \leq x$, and hence $\exists y \in X (x \leq y)$. Therefore $x \in C_1 X$, and so $X \subseteq C_1 X$.
- 2. If $z \in C_1X$, then $\exists x \in X (z \leq x)$, and since $X \subseteq Y$, so $\exists x \in Y (z \leq x)$. Therefore $z \in C_1Y$, and hence $C_1X \subseteq C_1Y$.
- 3. If $x \in C_1C_1X$, then $\exists y \in C_1X (x \leq y)$ and $\exists z \in X (y \leq z)$. Therefore $x \leq z$, so $x \leq C_1X$, and hence $C_1C_1X \subseteq C_1X$. Since $C_1X \subseteq C_1C_1X$ (1 of definition), $C_1C_1X = C_1X$.
- 4. We show that if $x \in C_1 X$ and $y \in C_1 Y$, then $x \cdot y \in C_1(X \bullet Y)$. Since $x \in C_1 X$, $\exists x' \in X \ (x \leq x')$. Since $y \in C_1 Y$, $\exists y' \in Y \ (y \leq y')$. By definition, since $x \cdot y \leq x' \cdot y'$, $x \cdot y \in X \bullet Y$. Therefore $\exists x' \cdot \exists y' \in X \bullet Y \ (x \cdot y \leq x' \cdot y')$. Thus $x \cdot y \in C_1(X \bullet Y)$, and hence $C_1 X \bullet C_1 Y \subseteq C_1(X \bullet Y)$.

Proposition 4.2.11 C_2 is a closure operation on the quantale

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}) = \langle \mathcal{P}(M), \cup, \bullet, \{e\} \rangle.$$

Proof. We show that a function C_2 defined as above holds Definition 4.2.1.

- 1. If $x \in X$, then $\forall y \in X^{\rightarrow} (x \leq y)$. Therefore $x \in (X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} = C_2 X$, and hence $X \subseteq C_2 X$.
- 2. First we show that

if
$$X \subseteq Y$$
, then $Y^{\rightarrow} \subseteq X^{\rightarrow} \cdots (1)$.

If $z \in Y^{\rightarrow}$, then $\forall y \in Y (y \leq z)$. Therefore $\forall x \in X (x \leq z)$, and hence $z \in X^{\rightarrow}$. Next we show that

if
$$X \subseteq Y$$
, then $Y^{\leftarrow} \subseteq X^{\leftarrow} \cdots (2)$.

If $z \in Y^{\leftarrow}$, then $\forall y \in Y \ (z \leq y)$. Therefore $\forall x \in X \ (z \leq x)$, and hence $z \in X^{\leftarrow}$. By (1) and (2), if $X \subseteq Y$, then $Y^{\rightarrow} \subseteq X^{\rightarrow}$. and if $Y^{\rightarrow} \subseteq X^{\rightarrow}$, then $(X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} \subseteq (Y^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$. Therefore if $X \subseteq Y$ then $(X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} \subseteq (Y^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$, and hence $C_2 X \subseteq C_2 Y$.

3. $X \subseteq (X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$ by 1, then by 2,

$$((X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow})^{\rightarrow} = (C_2 X)^{\rightarrow} \subseteq X^{\rightarrow} \cdots (1).$$

If $x \in X^{\rightarrow}$, then by definition, $\forall y \in (X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} (y \leq x)$. Therefore $x \in ((X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow})^{\rightarrow}$, and hence

 $X^{\rightarrow} \subseteq ((X^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow})^{\rightarrow} = (C_2 X)^{\rightarrow} \cdots (2).$

By (1) and (2), $((X^{\to})^{\leftarrow})^{\to} = (C_2 X)^{\to} = X^{\to}$. Therefore $C_2 C_2 X = ((C_2 X)^{\to})^{\leftarrow} = (X^{\to})^{\leftarrow} = C_2 X$, then $C_2 C_2 X = C_2 X$.

4. We show that

if
$$x \in C_2 X$$
 and $y \in C_2 Y$, then $x \cdot y \in C_2(X \bullet Y)$.

Suppose that $z \in (X \bullet Y)^{\rightarrow}$. Then $\forall u \in X$ and $\forall v \in Y (u \cdot v \leq z)$, and hence $\forall u \in X (u \leq v \bullet z)$. Since $u \in X$ is arbitrary, $\forall v \in Y (v \bullet z \in X^{\rightarrow})$. Therefore $x \leq v \bullet z$, and hence we have $v \cdot x = x \cdot v \leq z$. Thus $v \leq x \bullet z$. Since $v \in Y$ is arbitrary, we have $x \bullet z \in Y^{\rightarrow}$, and hence $y \leq x \bullet z$. Therefore $x \cdot y = y \cdot x \leq z$, and hence $x \cdot y \in ((X \bullet Y)^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} = C_2(X \bullet Y)$. Thus $C_2X \bullet C_2Y \subseteq C_2(X \bullet Y)$.

Remark 4.2.12 C_1 is the closure operation used in [15]. In the quantales constructed from Petri nets using C_1 , since C_1 -closed sets are downwards closed, for $m, m' \in \mathcal{M}$

$$C_1(m) \subseteq C_1(m')$$
 if and only if $m \square m'$.

Therefore C_1 adequates for the reachability relation of Petri nets. Similarly, since every C_2 -closed set is downwards closed, C_2 also adequates for the reachability relation.

Lemma 4.2.13 Suppose that a structure $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{M}_N) := \langle \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}), \cup, \bullet, \{[]\} \rangle$ is a quantale constructed from a Petri net using C_2 closure operation. Then for all $x \in \mathcal{M}$, the following holds.

$$C_2(\{x\}) = \{y \mid y \sqsubseteq x\}.$$

Proof.

- First we show that if $m \in C_2(\{x\})$, then $m \sqsubseteq x$. Suppose that $m \in C_2(\{x\})$. Since \sqsubseteq is reflexive, then $x \in \{x\}^{\rightarrow}$, and hence $m \sqsubseteq x$.
- Next we show that if $m \sqsubseteq x$, then $m \in C_2(\{x\})$. Suppose that $m \sqsubseteq x$. If $m' \in x^{\rightarrow}$, then $x \sqsubseteq m'$. Since \sqsubseteq is transitive, then $m \sqsubseteq m'$, and hence

$$m \in (\{x\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} = C_2(\{x\})$$

4.3 Quantales with Exponential

We extend the quantales given above to the quantales with exponential, which correspond to the logical connective !.

The following definition of quantales with exponential will naturally arise from the syntactic properties of ! in linear logic.

4.3.1 Exponential on Quantales

Definition 4.3.1 (exponential) Let $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ be a quantale. An *exponential* ! on \mathbf{Q} is an unary operator such that

- 1. $!x \sqsubseteq x$ for all $x \in Q$,
- 2. if $!x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$ for all $x, y \in Q$,
- 3. $1 = !\top$,
- 4. $!x \bullet ! y = !(x \land y)$ for all $x, y \in Q$.

Lemma 4.3.2 Clause 2 of the definition is equivalent to the following:

if $x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$ and $!x \sqsubseteq !!y$.

Proof. We show that if $!x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$. Since $!x \sqsubseteq y$, $!!x \sqsubseteq !y$, and since $x \sqsubseteq x$, $!x \sqsubseteq !!x$. Therefore $!x \sqsubseteq !y$. Next we show if $x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$ and $!x \sqsubseteq !!y$. Since $x \sqsubseteq y$, $!x \sqsubseteq y$ by 1 of the definition, and hence $!x \sqsubseteq !y$ and $!x \sqsubseteq !!y$ by 2 of the definition.

Lemma 4.3.3 In every quantale with exponential, the following holds:

- 1. !!x = !x,
- 2. 1 = !1.

Proof.

- 1. $!!x \sqsubseteq !x$ by 1 of the definition. Since $!x \sqsubseteq !x$, $!x \sqsubseteq !x$ by 2 of the definition.
- 2. $!1 \sqsubseteq 1$ by 1 of definition. Since $1 = !\top$ and $1 \sqsubseteq 1$, $!\top = 1 \sqsubseteq 1$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq !1$ by 2 of the definition.

Lemma 4.3.4 In every quantale with exponential, the following holds:

- 1. $!x \sqsubseteq 1$,
- 2. $!x \sqsubseteq !x \bullet !x$,
- 3. $!x \bullet ! y \sqsubseteq ! (!x \bullet ! y),$
- 4. if $x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$.

Proof.

- 1. Since $x \sqsubseteq \top$, $!x \sqsubseteq \top$ by 1 of the definition, and $!x \sqsubseteq !\top$ by 2 of the definition, so $!x \sqsubseteq 1$ by 3 of the definition.
- 2. $|x = !(x \land x) = !x \bullet !x$ by 4 of the definition.
- 3. $|x \bullet | y = !(x \land y)$ by 4 of the definition. Since $!(x \land y) \sqsubseteq !(x \land y)$, $!(x \land y) \sqsubseteq !!(x \land y)$ by 2 of the definition. Therefore $|x \bullet ! y \sqsubseteq !!(x \land y) = !(!x \bullet !y)$.
- 4. Since we have $!x \sqsubseteq y$ from $x \sqsubseteq y$ by 1 of the definition, $!x \sqsubseteq !y$ by 2 of the definition.

4.3.2 FS-quantales and Quantales with Exponential

Here we discuss two definitions of the quantale with exponential !. The former definition is used in [15, 16, 17]. Using this definition, we could not prove the completeness of linear logic for Petri net models with exponential. Therefore we use the latter definition and prove it.

In this thesis, we call the quantale defined by the former definition "FS-quantale with exponential", and call the quantale defined by the latter definition simply "quantale with exponential".

1. FS-quantales with exponential

In linear logic, given a proposition a, the assertion of !a has the possibility of being instantiated by the proposition a, 1 or !a*!a.

The definition of FS-quantales with exponential will naturally arise from the following syntactic properties of ! in linear logic, the rules of (1) and (2). The formal definition of exponential ! of linear logic will be given in Chapter 6. • From the rules of $!a \Rightarrow a$, $!a \Rightarrow 1$ and $!a \Rightarrow !a*!a$,

$$!a \Rightarrow a \sqcap 1 \sqcap !a * !a \cdots (1),$$

• from the rule of free storage,

$$\frac{b \Rightarrow a \quad b \Rightarrow 1 \quad b \Rightarrow b * b}{b \Rightarrow !a} \cdots (2).$$

As an interpretation of !a, for an element a of a lattice, we require an element x from (1) such that

$$x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x).$$

This will not in general characterize a unique value of the lattice. For instance taking x to be the bottom element \perp of the lattice will always do. How ever from (2) it follows that any x satisfying $x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x)$ should be below !a. Therefore !a should be the greatest fixed point of the monotone mapping

$$x \longrightarrow a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x)$$

in the complete lattice given together with the quantale.

(In Chapter 2, we have shown that for a complete lattice L and a monotone mapping h on L, there exists fixed point, and especially,

$$\bigvee \{ x \in L \mid x \sqsubseteq h(x) \}$$

is the greatest fixed point of L.)

Such a solution ensures the soundness of the proof rules extended by those for !a.

We define FS-quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}^! = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1, ! \rangle$ as follows:

Definition 4.3.5 (commutative FS-quantale with exponential) A quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}^! = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1, ! \rangle$ is a *commutative FS-quantale with exponential* if

 $b \sqsubseteq a, b \sqsubseteq 1$ and $b \sqsubseteq b \bullet b$ implies $b \sqsubseteq !a$.

We shall use simply FS-quantale with exponential for commutative FS-quantale with exponential.

Proposition 4.3.6 Let $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ be a quantale, and for each $a \in Q$, define an operator ! on Q by

$$!a := \bigvee \{ x \in Q | x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x) \}.$$

Then $\mathbf{Q}^! = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1, ! \rangle$ is an FS-quantale with exponential.

Proof. It is immediate from the definition of exponential.

2. quantales with exponential

This definition of !a is different from one in [15, 16, 17]. They define !a for the linear logic with the rule of free storage [47], and to be the greatest fixed point of a mapping corresponding to the free storage rule.

We define quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{F}}^{!} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1, !, \mathrm{F} \rangle$ as follows:

Definition 4.3.7 (commutative quantale with exponential) Let $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ be a quantale, and F be a subset of Q such that

- (a) if $x, y \in F$, then $x \bullet y \in F$,
- (b) $x \bullet x = x$ for all $x \in \mathbf{F}$,
- (c) $1 \in F$ and $x \sqsubseteq 1$ for all $x \in F$.

Then a structure $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{F}}^{!} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1, !, \mathrm{F} \rangle$ is a commutative quantale with exponential

$$!a = \bigvee \{ x \in \mathcal{F} \mid x \sqsubseteq a \}$$

We shall use simply *quantale with exponential* for commutative quantale with exponential.

Proposition 4.3.8 $|a = \bigvee \{x \in F \mid x \sqsubseteq a\}$ defines an exponential over Q.

Proof. We show that $!a = \bigvee \{x \in F \mid x \sqsubseteq a\}$ holds Definition 4.3.1.

- (a) $!x \sqsubseteq x$ is immediate from condition of definition. Since $!x = \bigvee \{y \in F \mid y \sqsubseteq x\}$, then $!x \sqsubseteq x$.
- (b) We show that if $!x \sqsubseteq y$, then $!x \sqsubseteq !y$. Suppose that $!x \sqsubseteq y$. From definition

$$!x = \bigvee \{ z \in F \mid z \sqsubseteq x \}$$
 and

$$!y = \bigvee \{ z \in F \mid z \sqsubseteq y \}.$$

Since $|x = \bigvee \{z \in F \mid z \sqsubseteq x\} \sqsubseteq y$, if $z \sqsubseteq x$, then $z \sqsubseteq y$, for all $z \in F$. Therefore we have $|x \sqsubseteq |y$.

(c) We show $1 = !\top$. Since

$$!\top = \bigvee \{ x \in F \mid x \sqsubseteq \top \},\$$

and from condition of the definition, it is immediate. Because since $1 \in F$ and $x \sqsubseteq 1$ for all $x \in F$, $!\top \sqsubseteq 1$, and since $1 \sqsubseteq \top$ and $1 \in F$, $1 \sqsubseteq !\top$.

- (d) We show that $!x \bullet !x = !(x \land y)$ for all $x, y \in Q$.
 - First we show that $!x \bullet ! y \sqsubseteq ! (x \land y)$. Since $!y \sqsubseteq ! \top = 1$,

$$\begin{aligned} & !x \bullet !y \quad \sqsubseteq \quad !x \bullet !\top \\ & = \quad !x \bullet 1 \\ & = \quad !x. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore $!x \bullet !y \sqsubseteq !x$, and similarly $!x \bullet !y \sqsubseteq !y$. Since $!x \sqsubseteq x$ and $!y \sqsubseteq y$ from 1 of definition, $!x \bullet !y \sqsubseteq x$ and $!x \bullet !y \sqsubseteq y$, and then $!x \bullet !y \sqsubseteq x \land y$. Also

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x} \bullet \mathbf{y} &= \bigvee_{z, z' \in F} \{ z \bullet z' \mid z \sqsubseteq x, z' \sqsubseteq y \} \\ &\quad \text{(by distributivity of } \lor \text{ over } \bullet \text{)} \\ &\sqsubseteq \bigvee_{z, z' \in F} \{ z \bullet z' \mid z \sqsubseteq \mathbf{x}, z' \sqsubseteq \mathbf{y} \} \\ &\quad \text{(since } z \in F \text{ and } z \sqsubseteq u \text{ implies } z \sqsubseteq \mathbf{y} \text{)} \\ &\sqsubseteq \bigvee \{ z \in F \mid z \sqsubseteq \mathbf{x} \bullet \mathbf{y} \} \\ &= \mathbf{y} \{ \mathbf{x} \bullet \mathbf{y} \} \end{aligned}$$

hence $!x \bullet ! y \sqsubseteq ! (!x \bullet ! y) \sqsubseteq ! (x \land y)$.

• Next we show the converse, $!(x \land y) \sqsubseteq !x \bullet !y$. On the other hand,

$$!(x \land y) = \bigvee \{ z \in F \mid z \sqsubseteq x \land y \}.$$

For all $z \in Q$, if $z \sqsubseteq x \land y$, then $z \sqsubseteq x$ and $z \sqsubseteq y$, which in turn implies $z \sqsubseteq !x$ and $z \sqsubseteq !y$, and hence $z = z \bullet z \sqsubseteq !x \bullet !y$. Therefore $!(x \land y) \sqsubseteq !x \bullet !y$.

Chapter 5

Intuitionistic Linear Logic without Exponential

In this chapter, we will first describe syntax and semantics of linear logic without exponential, and prove soundness theorem for quantales. Then we will prove completeness of linear logic without exponential for quantales induced from Petri nets by using the closure operation C_2 .

In this thesis, we follow notation of linear logic in [47]. Therefore we have kept Girard's symbols $1, \top$, and replaced $\otimes, \oplus, \&$ by $*, \sqcup, \sqcap$ respectively, and interchanged \bot and 0. For technical background on linear logic, see [19, 21, 22].

5.1 Syntax

5.1.1 Formulas

The language of linear logic without exponential has an alphabet consisting of

```
propositional variables: a, b, c, \ldots,
```

```
propositional constants: 1, \top, \bot,
```

```
connectives: *, \sqcup, \sqcap, \multimap and
```

auxiliary symbols: (,).

The connectives carry traditional names:

*: multiplicative conjunction (times),

 \sqcup : disjunction (or),

 \sqcap : additive conjunction (and) and

 $-\infty$: linear implication.

Formulas are inductively defined by

the propositional variables and constants are formulas and

if A and B are formulas, then $(A * B), (A \sqcup B), (A \sqcap B)$ and $(A \multimap B)$ are formulas. We shall use $A \equiv B$ as an abbreviation for $(A \multimap B) \sqcap (B \multimap A)$, and denote the set of all formulas by Φ .

5.1.2 Sequents

A sequent of linear logic without exponential is an expression of the form

 $\Gamma \Rightarrow C$,

where Γ is a finite sequence of formulas and C is a formula. Both Γ and C may be empty. In the sequel, capital Greek letters will denote finite (possibly empty) sequences of formulas.

5.1.3 Axioms (initial sequents) and Rules

The calculus is given by specifying axioms and rules as following.

Definition 5.1.1 (axioms and rules of inference) The axioms of linear logic without exponential are the instances of the following four axiom-schemes:

$$\begin{split} A \Rightarrow A, \\ \Rightarrow 1, \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \top, \\ \Gamma, \bot, \Delta \Rightarrow A. \end{split}$$

The rules of inference of linear logic without exponential are the following structural rules:

$$\frac{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma, 1, \Delta \Rightarrow A} (1 - \text{weakening}),$$
$$\frac{\Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, B, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\text{exchange}),$$
$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A}{\Delta, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C} (\text{cut}),$$

and the following logical rules:

$$\frac{\Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C \quad \Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcup B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} \ (\sqcup \Rightarrow),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1), \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcap B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} \ (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow), \qquad \frac{\Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcap B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} \ (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} \; (\Rightarrow \sqcap),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \ast B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\ast \Rightarrow), \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A \ast B} (\Rightarrow \ast),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Delta, B, \Sigma \Rightarrow C}{\Delta, A \multimap B, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C} (\multimap \Rightarrow), \qquad \frac{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B} (\Rightarrow \multimap)$$

Note that in the absence of contraction and weakening in linear logic,

$$\frac{\Gamma, A, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} \text{ (contraction)}, \qquad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} \text{ (weakening)},$$

the choice of rules for conjunction leads to distinct connective \square and *, and the distributivity of \square over \sqcup becomes not to hold in general.

Linear logic may be viewed as an example of a "resource-conscious" logic, where the formulas represent types of resource, and resources cannot be used ad libitum.

Example 5.1.2 The following two simple examples show why linear logic is called resource-conscious logic.

• Asserting a sequent

 $A, A \Rightarrow B$

means something like: we use two data (resources) of type A to obtain one datum of type B.

• The following logical rules:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow B}{A, A \Rightarrow B * C} (\Rightarrow *)$$

means that we can derive lower sequent $A, A \Rightarrow B * C$ from upper sequents $A \Rightarrow B$ and $A \Rightarrow C$, i.e., if we use one datum of type A to obtain one datum of type B, and we use one datum of type A to obtain one datum of type C, respectively, then we use two data of type A to obtain one datum of type B and one datum of type C.

5.1.4 Examples of Proofs

For understanding of the rules described above, we give the following examples.

Example 5.1.3 We can derive the rule

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A {-\!\!\!\circ} B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}$$

from $(-\infty \Rightarrow)$ as follows:

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} \xrightarrow{A \Rightarrow A} B \Rightarrow B (- \circ \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B} (\text{cut})$$

Example 5.1.4 We can derive that $(A * B) \Rightarrow C \equiv A \Rightarrow B \multimap C$, i.e., if $(A * B) \Rightarrow C$, then $A \Rightarrow B \multimap C$ and if $A \Rightarrow B \multimap C$, then $(A * B) \Rightarrow C$.

• First we show that if $(A * B) \Rightarrow C$, then $A \Rightarrow B \multimap C$:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow B}{A, B \Rightarrow A \ast B} (\Rightarrow \ast) \qquad A \ast B \Rightarrow C$$

$$\frac{A, B \Rightarrow C}{A \Rightarrow B \multimap C} (\Rightarrow \multimap)$$
(cut)

• Next we show that if $A \Rightarrow B \multimap C$, then $(A * B) \Rightarrow C$:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow B \multimap C}{A \Rightarrow B \multimap C} \xrightarrow{B \Rightarrow B \quad C \Rightarrow C} (\multimap \Rightarrow)$$
$$\frac{A \Rightarrow B \multimap C}{A \Rightarrow B \Rightarrow C} (* \Rightarrow)$$

Example 5.1.5 We can derive that $(A \sqcup B) * C \equiv (A * C) \sqcup (B * C)$ as follows:

• For $(A \sqcup B) * C \Rightarrow (A * C) \sqcup (B * C)$,

$$\begin{array}{c} \displaystyle \frac{A \Rightarrow A \quad C \Rightarrow C}{A, C \Rightarrow A \ast C} \; (\Rightarrow \ast) \\ \displaystyle \frac{B \Rightarrow B \quad C \Rightarrow C}{B, C \Rightarrow B \ast C} \; (\Rightarrow \ast) \\ \hline \frac{A, C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C}{A, C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C} \; (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1) \; & \frac{B \Rightarrow B \quad C \Rightarrow C}{B, C \Rightarrow B \ast C} \; (\Rightarrow \ast) \\ \hline \frac{A \sqcup B, C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C}{(A \sqcup B) \ast C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C} \; (\Rightarrow \downarrow 2) \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \displaystyle \frac{A \sqcup B, C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C}{(A \sqcup B) \ast C \Rightarrow A \ast C \sqcup B \ast C} \; (\ast \Rightarrow) \\ \hline \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

• For
$$(A * C) \sqcup (B * C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C$$
,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1) \xrightarrow{C \Rightarrow C} (\Rightarrow *) \xrightarrow{B \Rightarrow B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2) \xrightarrow{C \Rightarrow C} (\Rightarrow *) \xrightarrow{A \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2) \xrightarrow{C \Rightarrow C} (\Rightarrow *) \xrightarrow{A * C \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C} (* \Rightarrow) \xrightarrow{B \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2) \xrightarrow{C \Rightarrow C} (\Rightarrow *) \xrightarrow{A * C \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C} (* \Rightarrow) \xrightarrow{B * C \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C} (* \Rightarrow) \xrightarrow{A * C \sqcup B * C \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C} (\cup \Rightarrow) \xrightarrow{A * C \sqcup B * C \Rightarrow (A \sqcup B) * C} (\cup \Rightarrow)$$

Remark 5.1.6 Although the distributivity of \sqcap over \sqcup does not hold in general, the distributivity of \sqcup over * holds in linear logic.

Remark 5.1.7 With the construction and weakening rules, we can prove $A * B \equiv A \sqcap B$ as follows:

• For $A * B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, B \Rightarrow A} (weakening) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A, B \Rightarrow B} (weakening) \\ \frac{A, B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{A * B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (* \Rightarrow)$$

• For $A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A * B$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B} (\sqcap \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{A \sqcap B, A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A * B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A * B} (construction)$$

Remark 5.1.8 The distributivity of \sqcap over \sqcup does not hold in general. Although the following proof shows that $(A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)$ is derivable in linear logic,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1) \\ (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow) \qquad (\square 2 \Rightarrow) \\ A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \qquad (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \qquad (a),$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{\frac{C \Rightarrow C}{C \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2)}{A \sqcap C \Rightarrow B \sqcup C} (\square 2 \Rightarrow) \\ A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) (\Rightarrow \sqcap) (B \sqcup C),$$

and from (a) and (b), we can get

$$\frac{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \quad A \sqcap C \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)}{(A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \Rightarrow A \sqcap (B \sqcup C)} (\sqcup \Rightarrow),$$

we cannot prove the sequent $A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)$.

With the contraction and weakening rules, we can prove this as follows:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, B \Rightarrow A} (weakening) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A, B \Rightarrow B} (weakening) \\ \frac{A, B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{A, B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \\ \frac{A, B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{A, B \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1)$$
(a),

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, C \Rightarrow A} (weakening) \quad \frac{C \Rightarrow C}{A, C \Rightarrow C} (weakening) \\ \frac{A, C \Rightarrow A \sqcap C}{A, C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C)} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2) \qquad (b),$$

and from (a) and (b), we can get

$$\begin{array}{c} A,B \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \quad A,C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \\ \hline A,B \sqcup C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \\ \hline A,B \sqcup C \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \\ \hline A \sqcap (B \sqcup C),A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \\ \hline A \sqcap (B \sqcup C) \Rightarrow (A \sqcap B) \sqcup (A \sqcap C) \\ \hline \end{array} (\begin{array}{c} (\Box \square A \sqcap C) \\ (Contraction) \\ \hline \end{array} (\begin{array}{c} (\Box \square A \sqcap C) \\ (Contraction) \\ \hline \end{array}) \\ \hline \end{array}$$

5.1.5 Relation between Linear Logic and Petri Nets

We explain the relation between linear logic and Petri nets, and we show that linear logic is useful in the theory of parallelism and resource conscious of Petri nets. For understanding, we give the following simple examples. Example 5.1.9 Consider the following nets, net-1 and net-2.



Figure 5.1: Relation between linear logic and Petri net

We show the theory of parallelism with net-1, and the theory of resource conscious with net-2.

- 1. Consider net-1 with $P = \{a, b, c\}$ and $T = \{t_1, t_2\}$. Pre-multiset $\bullet(t_1)$ and $\bullet(t_2)$ are [a], and post-multiset $(t_1)^{\bullet}$ and $(t_2)^{\bullet}$ are [b] and [c] respectively. We consider two cases, one is the net which has one token, and the other is the net which has two tokens, in the place a, respectively.
 - (a) Suppose that there is one token in a. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a] to [b], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [a] to [c]. So the firings of transitions t_1 or t_2 transforms one token in a into b or into c, but not both.
 - (b) Suppose that there are two tokens in a. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [a, a] to [a, b], and a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [a, a] to [a, c]. So the firings of transitions t_1 and t_2 transform two tokens in a into b and into c both.

In linear logic, we can represent these as following:

$$\frac{a \Rightarrow b \quad a \Rightarrow c}{a \Rightarrow b \sqcap c} (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \tag{a}$$

$$\frac{a \Rightarrow b \quad a \Rightarrow c}{a * a \Rightarrow b * c} \ (* \Rightarrow, \Rightarrow *) \tag{b}$$

2. Consider net-2 with $P = \{a, b, c, d\}$ and $T = \{t\}$. We consider two cases, one is the net which has not an arc, and the other is the net which has an arc, from the place d to the transition t.

Suppose that there is one token in a, b and d.

(a) Since there is no arc from the place d to the transition t, Pre-multiset $^{\bullet}(t)$ is [a, b], and post-multiset $(t)^{\bullet}$ is [c]. A firing of transition t changes the marking from [a, b] to [c].

(b) Since there is an arc from the place d to the transition t, Pre-multiset $\bullet(t)$ is [a, d, b], and post-multiset $(t)^{\bullet}$ is [c]. A firing of transition t changes the marking from [a, d, b] to [c].

In linear logic, we can represent these as following:

$$\frac{a,d,b\Rightarrow c}{a\sqcap d,b\Rightarrow c} (\sqcap\Rightarrow) \qquad (a),$$
$$\frac{a,d,b\Rightarrow c}{a*d,b\Rightarrow c} (*\Rightarrow) \qquad (b).$$

Parallelism and Resource-consciousness of linear logic seem useful to research the connection between linear logic and the theory of Petri nets.

5.2 Semantics

5.2.1 Valuation on Quantale

Definition 5.2.1 (valuation) A valuation v on a quantale $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a mapping of Φ into Q satisfying the following conditions: for every $A, B \in \Phi$,

- 1. $v(A \sqcap B) = v(A) \land v(B),$
- 2. $v(A \sqcup B) = v(A) \lor v(B),$
- 3. $v(A * B) = v(A) \bullet v(B),$
- 4. $v(A \multimap B) = v(A) \multimap v(B),$
- 5. $v(\top) = \top$,
- 6. $v(\perp) = \perp$,
- 7. v(1) = 1.

5.2.2 Validity

Definition 5.2.2 (valid) A formula A is said to be

1. true in a valuation v on a quantale \mathbf{Q} if

$$1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$$

holds, which will be denoted by

$$\mathbf{Q}, v \models A;$$

2. valid with respect to a class \mathcal{Q} of quantales if for each quantale $\mathbf{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}$ and each valuation v on \mathbf{Q} ,

$$\mathbf{Q}, v \models A$$

holds, which will be denoted by

$$\mathcal{Q} \models A;$$

and a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is said to be *valid* with respect to \mathcal{Q} if and only if

$$\mathcal{Q} \models \Gamma^* \multimap A$$

where Γ^* is a formula defined by $\emptyset^* := 1$ and $(\Gamma, A)^* := \Gamma^* * A$.

5.2.3 Soundness

The soundness theorem can be shown as usual (see e.g. [47]).

Theorem 5.2.3 (soundness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic, then it is valid with respect to the class of all quantales.

Proof. Soundness is proved by a straightforward induction on hight of proof.

- Initial sequents are valid,
- for the rules of inference (structural rules and logical rules), if upper sequent(s) is valid, then lower sequent is valid.

We show that initial sequents, structural rules and logical rules are valid. For structural rules and logical rules, we show that if upper sequent(s) is valid, then lower sequent is valid.

- 1. We show that initial sequents are valid.
 - (a) $\models A \Rightarrow A$. We show that $\models A \multimap A$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

 $1 \sqsubseteq v(A \multimap A).$

Since $v(A) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, $1 \bullet v(A) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(A) \multimap v(A)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(A \multimap A)$.

(b) $\models \Rightarrow 1$. We show that $\models 1$. It suffices to show that

 $1 \sqsubseteq v(1).$

Since $1 \sqsubseteq 1$ and v(1) = 1, $1 \sqsubseteq v(1)$.

(c) $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow \top$.

We show that $\models \Gamma^* \multimap \top$. It suffices to show that

 $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* \multimap \top).$

Since \top is the greatest element, $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq \top$. Therefore $1 \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(\top)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\top)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* \bullet \top)$.

(d) $\models \Gamma, \bot, \Delta \Rightarrow A.$

We show that $\models \Gamma^* * \bot * \Delta^* \multimap A$. It suffices to show that

$$1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \bot * \Delta^* \multimap A).$$

Since \perp is the least element, $v(\perp) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) - \bullet v(A)$. Then $v(\perp) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, and hence $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\perp) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq (v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\perp) \bullet v(\Delta^*)) - \bullet v(A)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \bot * \Delta^*) - \bullet v(A)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \bot * \Delta^* - \circ A)$.

- 2. We show that structural rules are valid.
 - (a) 1-weakening.
 - Since $\models \Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A, \models \Gamma^* * \Delta^* \multimap A$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \Delta^* \multimap A)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \Delta^*) \multimap v(A)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(A)$, and so

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A$, then $\models \Gamma, 1, \Delta \Rightarrow A$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * 1 * \Delta^* - \circ A.$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(1) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(1) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(A)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * 1 * \Delta^* \multimap A)$, and so $\models \Gamma^* * 1 * \Delta^* \multimap A$.

- (b) exchange.
 - Since $\models \Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C, \models \Gamma^* * A * B * \Delta^* \multimap C$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A * B * \Delta^* \multimap C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$. Thus

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Gamma, B, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * B * A * \Delta^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C), v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C),$ and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A * b * \Delta^* \multimap C)$, and hence $\models \Gamma^* * B * A * \Delta^* \multimap C$.

(c) cut.

- Since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$, $\models \Gamma^* \multimap A$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* \multimap A)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(A)$. Thus $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) \cdots (1)$.
- Since $\models \Delta, A, \Sigma \Rightarrow C, \models \Delta^* * A * \Sigma^* \multimap C$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^* * A * \Sigma^* \multimap C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \multimap v(C)$. Therefore $v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$, and so

$$v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) - \bullet v(C) \cdots (2).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$ and $\models \Delta, A, \Sigma \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Delta, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Delta^* * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \bullet v(C)$ from (1) and (2),

$$v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$$

Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \multimap v(C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^* * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^*) \multimap v(C)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^* * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C)$, and so $\models \Delta^* * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C$.

- 3. We show that logical rules are valid.
 - (a) $\sqcup \Rightarrow$.
 - Since $\models \Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C, \models \Gamma^* * A * \Delta^* \multimap C$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A * \Delta^* \multimap C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$, and so

$$v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C) \cdots (1).$$

• Since $\models \Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C, \models \Gamma^* * B * \Delta^* \multimap C$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * B * \Delta^* \multimap C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$, and so

$$v(B) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C) \cdots (2).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C$ and $\models \Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Gamma, A \sqcup B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * A \sqcup B * \Delta^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(A) \lor v(B) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C)$ from (1) and (2),

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A \sqcup B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$$

Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A \sqcup B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * (A \sqcup B) * \Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * (A \sqcup B) * \Delta^* \multimap C)$, and so $\models \Gamma^* * (A \sqcup B) * \Delta^* \multimap C$.

- (b) $\Rightarrow \sqcup 1$.
 - Since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$, $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$ by cut $\cdots (1)$.
 - We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$, then $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* \multimap (A \sqcup B).$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A), v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) \lor v(B)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A \sqcup B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(A \sqcup B)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* \multimap A \sqcup B)$, and so $\models \Gamma^* \multimap (A \sqcup B)$.

- (c) The proof is similar for $(\Rightarrow \sqcup 2)$.
- (d) $\Box 1 \Rightarrow$.
 - Since $\models \Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C, v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C)$ by cut $\cdots (2)$.
 - We show that if $\models \Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Gamma, A \sqcap B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * (A \sqcap B) * \Delta^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C)$, $v(A) \land v(B) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(C)$, and then

$$v(A \sqcap B) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) - \bullet v(C)$$

Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A \sqcap B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * (A \sqcap B) * \Delta^*) - \bullet v(C)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * (A \sqcap B) * \Delta^* - \circ C)$, and so $\models \Gamma^* * (A \sqcap B) * \Delta^* - \circ C$.

(e) The proof is similar for $\Box 2 \Rightarrow$.

(f) $\Rightarrow \sqcap$.

- By cut \cdots (1), since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A, v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) \cdots$ (1) and
- since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow B, v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(B) \cdots (2)$.
- We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$ and $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* \multimap (A \sqcap B).$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) \land v(B)$ from (1) and (2),

$$v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A \sqcap B).$$

Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(A \sqcap B)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* - o(A \sqcap B))$. Thus $\models \Gamma^* - o(A \sqcap B)$.

(g)
$$* \Rightarrow$$
.

• Since $\models \Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$, $\models \Gamma^* * A * B * \Delta^* \multimap C$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A * B * \Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$. Thus

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Gamma, A * B, \Delta \Rightarrow C$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * (A * B) * \Delta^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C), v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A * B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A * B) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \multimap v(C)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * (A * B) * \Delta^* \multimap C)$. Thus $\models \Gamma^* * (A * B) * \Delta^* \multimap C$.

(h)
$$\Rightarrow *$$

- By cut \cdots (1), since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A, v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$ and
- since $\models \Delta \Rightarrow B, v(\Delta^*) \le v(B)$.
- We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$ and $\models \Delta \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A * B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$= \Gamma^* * \Delta^* - A * B.$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) \bullet v(B)$, $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) - \bullet v(A) \bullet v(B)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \Delta^*) - \bullet v(A * B)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * \Delta^* - \circ A * B)$. Thus $\models \Gamma^* * \Delta^* - \circ A * B$.

(i)
$$\multimap \Rightarrow$$

First we show that if $a \sqsubseteq a'$ and $b \sqsubseteq b'$, then $a' - b \sqsubseteq a - b'$. Since $a' - b \sqsubseteq a' - b$, $a' \bullet (a' - b) \sqsubseteq b$, and since $a \sqsubseteq a'$ and $b \sqsubseteq b'$,

and hence

$$a' - b \sqsubseteq a - b'$$

- Since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$, $v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A)$ by cut $\cdots (1)$.
- Since $\models \Delta, B, \Sigma \Rightarrow C, v(B) \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \bullet v(C)$ by cut \cdots (2).
- We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A$ and $\models \Delta, B, \Sigma \Rightarrow C$, then $\models \Delta, A \multimap B, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C$
- C. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Delta^* * (A \multimap B) * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C.$$

Since $v(A) \rightarrow v(B) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \rightarrow (v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \rightarrow v(C))$ by the results above, $(v(A) \rightarrow v(B)) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \rightarrow v(C)$. Then $(v(A) \rightarrow v(B)) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \sqsubseteq v(C)$, and so

$$v(\Delta^*) \bullet (v(A) - \bullet v(B)) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \sqsubseteq v(C).$$

Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq (v(\Delta^*) \bullet (v(A) \multimap v(B)) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*)) \multimap v(C)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^*) \bullet v(A \multimap B) \bullet v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(\Sigma^*) \multimap v(C)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Delta^* * (A \multimap B) * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C)$, and so $\models \Delta^* * (A \multimap B) * \Gamma^* * \Sigma^* \multimap C$.

$$(j) \Rightarrow -0.$$

• Since $\models \Gamma, A \Rightarrow B, \models \Gamma^* * A \multimap B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A \multimap B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A) \multimap v(B)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \multimap v(B)$, and so

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, A \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* \multimap (A \multimap B).$$

Since $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \sqsubseteq v(B), v(\Gamma^*) \sqsubseteq v(A) - \bullet v(B)$. Therefore

$$1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet (v(A) \bullet v(B)),$$

and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(A - B)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* - (A - B))$, and so $\models \Gamma^* - o(A - B)$.

5.3 Completeness

First we discuss the classes of quantales. Then we show how to construct the quantales from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic without exponential for our quantales.

Let \mathcal{Q}_0 , \mathcal{Q}_1 and \mathcal{Q}_2 be the classes of quantales defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_0 &:= \{ \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N) \mid N \text{ is a Petri net} \}, \\ \mathcal{Q}_1 &:= \{ C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid N \text{ is a Petri net} \}, \\ \mathcal{Q}_2 &:= \{ C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid N \text{ is a Petri net} \}. \end{aligned}$$

Then $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)$, $C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ are quantales obtained from the preordered commutative monoid \mathbf{X}_N using closure operations C_1 and C_2 .

We say that linear logic without exponential is *complete* for a class \mathcal{Q} of quantales, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic without exponential whenever $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid with respect to \mathcal{Q} .

 Q_1 is the class of quantales used in Engberg and Winskel [15]. In any quantale in Q_0 or Q_1 , the distributivity is always valid: in fact, in Q_0 and Q_1 , the lattice operations meet and join correspond to usual set operations intersection and union, respectively, and hence the distributivity automatically holds. As mentioned in Chapter 1, any logic which is complete for Q_0 or Q_1 , must have the distributivity as a theorem. Here we consider the class Q_2 , and prove completeness for Q_2 in which the distributivity is not always valid.

In order to prove completeness, we have constructed quantales from a Petri net as follows (see Figure 5.2):

First we construct a Petri net $N = \langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$. For constructing N, we take formulas as places and sequents (provability) as transitions. Then from N, we construct a preordered commutative monoid $\mathbf{X}_N = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box, +, [] \rangle$, and from the powerset $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N) = \langle \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}), \cup, \bullet, \{[]\} \rangle$ of the preordered commutative monoid, we construct a quantale $\mathbf{Q}_2 = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}) \rangle$ by closure operation C_2 . Finally we prove completeness using the quantales.



Figure 5.2: The construction of the quantales \mathbf{Q}_2 .

In the sequel, we shall prove completeness for \mathcal{Q}_2

Theorem 5.3.1 (completeness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid in Q_2 , then it is provable in linear logic without exponential.

Proof. First we construct the Petri net N = $\langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ as follows:

- 1. $P := \Phi$ (the set of all formulas),
- 2. $T := \{(\Gamma, \Delta) \mid \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^* \text{ is provable in linear logic without exponential}\}$ (in intuitionistic linear logic, the formulas on right hand side of the sequent are restricted at most one formula occurrence, so the formulas in Δ are connected with *),
- 3. for each $t = (\Gamma, \Delta) \in T$,

(a) $\bullet t := [\Gamma],$ (b) $t^{\bullet} := [\Delta].$

Then we define a mapping v of Φ into the quantale \mathbf{Q}_2 by

$$v(C) := C_2(\{[C]\}).$$

Note that in the preordered commutative monoid $\mathbf{X}_{N} = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box \rangle, +, [] \rangle$, for a sequence Γ , since $[\Gamma]$ is a multiset consisting of places in Γ ,

 $[\Gamma] \square [\Delta]$ if and only if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ is provable

in linear logic without exponential, and hence

 $C_2(\{[\Gamma]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[\Delta]\})$ if and only if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ is provable

in linear logic without exponential.

We can show by induction on the complexity of C that v is a valuation on \mathbf{Q}_2 .

Case 1 . $C \equiv A \sqcap B$. By the definition of v, it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[A \sqcap B]\}) = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[B]\}).$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \sqcap B]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] \supseteq [A \sqcap B]$, and since $A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic without exponential, $[A \sqcap B] \supseteq [A]$. Therefore $[\Gamma] \supseteq [A]$, and so $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\})$. Similarly we have $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[B]\})$. Thus $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap$ $C_2(\{[B]\})$. Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[B]\})$. Then $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ and $\Gamma \Rightarrow B$ are provable in linear logic without exponential, and hence we have

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} \ (\Rightarrow \sqcap).$$

Therefore $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \sqcap B]\}).$

Case 2 . $C \equiv A \sqcup B$. Since

$$v(A) \cup_{C_2} v(B) = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{[B]\})$$

= $C_2(C_2(\{[A]\}) \cup C_2(\{[B]\}))$
= $C_2(\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\}),$

it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[A \sqcup B]\}) = C_2(\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\}).$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \sqcup B]\})$ and $[\Delta] \in (\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\})^{\rightarrow}$. Then since $[A] \sqsubset [\Delta]$ and $[B] \sqsubset [\Delta]$, we see that $\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B$, $A \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ and $B \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ are provable in linear logic without exponential, and hence

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*} \frac{A \Rightarrow \Delta^*}{A \sqcup B \Rightarrow \Delta^*} (\Box \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*} (\operatorname{cut})$$

Thus $[\Gamma] \square [\Delta]$. Since $[\Delta]$ is arbitrary, we have $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\})$. Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\})$. Since $A \Rightarrow A \sqcup B$ and $B \Rightarrow A \sqcup B$ are provable in linear logic without exponential, we have $[A] \square [A \sqcup B]$ and $[B] \square [A \sqcup B]$, and hence $[A \sqcup B] \in (\{[A]\} \cup \{[B]\})^{\rightarrow}$. Therefore $[\Gamma] \square [A \sqcup B]$, and so $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \sqcup B]\})$.

Case 3 . $C \equiv A * B$. Since

$$v(A) \bullet_{C_2} v(B) = C_2(\{[A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[B]\})$$

= $C_2(C_2(\{[A]\}) \bullet C_2(\{[B]\}))$
= $C_2(\{[A]\} \bullet \{[B]\})$
= $C_2(\{[A] + [B]\})$
= $C_2(\{[A, B]\}),$

it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[A * B]\}) = C_2(\{[A, B]\}).$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A * B]\})$. Then $\Gamma \Rightarrow A * B$ is provable in linear logic without exponential, and hence

$$\frac{\frac{\Rightarrow 1 \quad A \Rightarrow A}{A \Rightarrow 1 * A} (\Rightarrow *)}{\frac{A \Rightarrow 1 * A}{A \Rightarrow 1 * A} (\Rightarrow *)} \xrightarrow{B \Rightarrow B} (\Rightarrow *)}{\frac{A, B \Rightarrow (1 * A) * B}{A * B \Rightarrow (A, B)^{*}} (* \Rightarrow)}{\Gamma \Rightarrow (A, B)^{*}} (\text{cut})}$$

Thus $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A, B]\})$. Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A, B]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] \square [A, B]$. Since $A, B \Rightarrow A * B$ is provable in linear logic without exponential, we have $[A, B] \square [A * B]$ and hence $[\Gamma] \square [A * B]$. Therefore $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A * B]\})$.

Case 4 . $C \equiv A \multimap B$. We show that

$$C_2(\{[A \multimap B]\}) = C_2(\{[A]\}) - C_2(\{[B]\}).$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \multimap B]\})$ and $[\Delta] \in C_2(\{[A]\})$. Then $\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B$ and $\Delta \Rightarrow A$ are provable in linear logic without exponential, and hence

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B}{\frac{\Delta \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}} \xrightarrow{A \Rightarrow B} (- \circ \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{\frac{\Delta \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}}{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow B} (\text{cut})$$

Therefore $[\Gamma, \Delta] \in C_2(\{[B]\})$. Since $[\Gamma, \Delta] = [\Gamma] + [\Delta]$ and $[\Delta]$ is arbitrary, we have $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \rightarrow C_2(\{[B]\})$ by Remark 4.1.10 and 4.2.6. Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \rightarrow C_2(\{[B]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] + [A] \in C_2(\{[B]\})$ as $[A] \in C_2(\{[A]\})$. Hence $[\Gamma] + [A] \sqsubset [B]$, and so $[\Gamma, A] \sqsubset [B]$. Thus $\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B$, and hence

$$\frac{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B} (\Rightarrow \multimap).$$

Therefore $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[A \multimap B]\}).$

Case 5. $C \equiv \top$. For any $[\Gamma] \in \mathcal{M}$, since $\Gamma \Rightarrow \top$ is provable in linear logic without exponential, we have $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[\tau]\})$. Hence

$$\mathcal{M} \subseteq C_2(\{[\top]\}) \subseteq \mathcal{M}$$

Case~6 . $C\equiv \bot.$ It suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[\bot]\}) = C_2\emptyset.$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[\bot]\})$ and $[\Delta] \in \emptyset^{\rightarrow} = \mathcal{M}$. Then $\Gamma \Rightarrow \bot$ is provable in linear logic without exponential, and since $\bot \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ is the axiom-scheme of linear logic without exponential, we have

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \bot \bot \Rightarrow \Delta^*}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*}$$
(cut)

Thus $[\Gamma] \supseteq [\Delta]$, and hence $[\Gamma] \in C_2 \emptyset$. Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2 \emptyset$ and $[\Delta] \in \{[\bot]\}^{\rightarrow}$. Then since $[\Gamma] \in (\emptyset^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$ and $[\bot] \in \mathcal{M} = \emptyset^{\rightarrow}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \bot$ is provable in linear logic without exponential. Therefore we have $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*$, and hence $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[\bot]\})$.

Case 7. $C \equiv 1$. Since $v(1) = C_2(\{[1]\})$, it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[1]\}) = C_2(\{[]\})$$

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[1]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] \square [1] = [\emptyset^*]$, and hence

 $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[]\}).$

Conversely suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] \square [\emptyset^*] = [1]$, and hence

 $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[1]\}).$

Finally we prove that $\Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic without exponential whenever $1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$. To this end, suppose that $1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$. Then $C_2(\{[]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\})$, and hence $[] \sqsubset [A]$ in the original preordered commutative monoid \mathbf{X}_N . Thus $\Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic without exponential. Therefore if $\Gamma^* \multimap A$ is true in \mathbf{Q}_2 with v, then

$$\frac{\Rightarrow \Gamma^* \multimap A \quad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Gamma^* \quad A \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma^* \multimap A, \Gamma \Rightarrow A} (\multimap \Rightarrow)}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A} (\operatorname{cut}),$$

and hence $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic without exponential.

The semantics looks like traditional, so called phase space semantics for linear logic and also like traditional Routley-Meyer semantics for relevant logics (see e.g. [10, 11, 12, 33, 44]). Note that these quantales do generate a phase space in the traditional manner, and that this result can then be viewed as a tighter completeness result.

Chapter 6

Intuitionistic Linear Logic

In this chapter, we will extend linear logic without exponential to linear logic with exponential. In linear logic, exponential ! is added to compensate the absence of the rules of weakening and contraction. For example, !A indicates that we may extract as many data of type A as we like, i.e., a datum of type !A is a finite collection of data of type A.

First, we discuss intuitionistic linear logic with exponential (its syntax and semantics), and then prove soundness theorem for quantales with exponential. Then we extend the construction of the quantales to those with exponential. And we also prove completeness for quantales with exponential generated from Petri nets by using similar construction in Chapter 5.

In this thesis, we follow notation of linear logic in [47]. Therefore we have kept Girard's symbols $1, \top, !$, and replaced $\otimes, \oplus, \&$ by $*, \sqcup, \sqcap$ respectively, and interchanged \bot and 0. For technical background on linear logic, see [19, 21, 22].

6.1 Syntax

6.1.1 Formulas

The *language* of linear logic has an alphabet consisting of

```
propositional variables: a, b, c, \ldots,
```

```
propositional constants: 1, \top, \bot,
```

connectives: $*, \sqcup, \sqcap, \multimap,$

an unary connective: ! and

auxiliary symbols: (,).

The connectives carry traditional names:

*: multiplicative conjunction (times),

 \sqcup : disjunction (or),

 \sqcap : additive conjunction (and),

 $-\infty$: linear implication and

!: exponential (storage or of course).

Note that storage operator is superficially similar to the modal operators \Box , \diamond in the usual modal logics. The role of ! is to introduce weakening and contraction in a controlled way for individual formulas. By inspection of the rules we see immediately that if we add weakening and contraction, then we may interpret ! by identity, i.e., !A := A validates all the rules.

Formulas are inductively defined by

the propositional variables and constants are formulas,

if A and B are formulas, then $(A * B), (A \sqcup B), (A \sqcap B)$ and $(A \multimap B)$ are formulas and

if A is formula, then !A is formula.

We shall use $A \equiv B$ as an abbreviation for $(A \multimap B) \sqcap (B \multimap A)$, and denote the set of all formulas by Φ .

6.1.2 Sequents

A sequent of linear logic is an expression of the form

 $\Gamma \Rightarrow C,$

where Γ is a finite sequence of formulas and C is a formula. Both Γ and C may be empty. In the sequel, capital Greek letters will denote finite (possibly empty) sequences of formulas.

6.1.3 Axioms (initial sequents) and Rules

Definition 6.1.1 (axioms and rules of inference) The axioms of linear logic are the instances of the following four axiom-schemes:

$$\begin{array}{l} A \Rightarrow A, \\ \Rightarrow 1, \\ \Gamma \Rightarrow \top, \\ \Gamma, \bot, \Delta \Rightarrow A. \end{array}$$

The rules of inference of linear logic are the following structural rules:

 $\frac{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma, 1, \Delta \Rightarrow A} (1 - \text{weakening}),$ $\frac{\Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, B, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\text{exchange}),$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Delta, A, \Sigma \Rightarrow C}{\Delta, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C}$$
(cut)

and the following logical rules:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C \quad \Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcup B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\sqcup \Rightarrow), \\ \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 1), \quad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcup B} (\Rightarrow \sqcup 2), \\ \frac{\Gamma, A, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcap B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow), \quad \frac{\Gamma, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \sqcap B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow), \\ \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (\Rightarrow \sqcap), \\ \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (\Rightarrow \sqcap), \\ \frac{\Gamma, A, B, \Delta \Rightarrow C}{\Gamma, A \ast B, \Delta \Rightarrow C} (\ast \Rightarrow), \quad \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Delta \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, \Delta \Rightarrow A \ast B} (\Rightarrow \ast), \\ \frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \quad \Delta, B, \Sigma \Rightarrow C}{\Delta, A \multimap B, \Gamma, \Sigma \Rightarrow C} (\multimap \Rightarrow), \quad \frac{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A \multimap B} (\Rightarrow \multimap), \end{split}$$

and the following exponential rules:

$$\frac{\Gamma, A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, !A \Rightarrow B} (! \Rightarrow),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, !A \Rightarrow B} (! - \text{weakening}),$$
$$\frac{\Gamma, !A, !A \Rightarrow B}{\Gamma, !A \Rightarrow B} (! - \text{contraction}),$$
$$\frac{!\Gamma \Rightarrow B}{!\Gamma \Rightarrow !B} (\Rightarrow !),$$

where $!\Gamma$ is a shorthand for $!A_1, \ldots, !A_n$ where $\Gamma = A_1, \ldots, A_n$.

Definition 6.1.2 The addition of free storage to linear logic corresponds to a rule of *free* storage

$$\frac{B \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow 1 \quad B \Rightarrow B * B}{B \Rightarrow !A}$$
 (FS)

The three exponential rules $(! \Rightarrow, ! - \text{weakening and } ! - \text{contraction})$ and FS may also be formulated as follows (see Remark 6.1.7):

$$\begin{aligned} !A &\Rightarrow A \cdots (1), \\ !A &\Rightarrow 1 \cdots (2), \\ !A &\Rightarrow !A * !A \cdots (3), \\ \\ \underline{B \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap B * B}_{B \Rightarrow !A} \text{ (FS')}. \end{aligned}$$

In this thesis, we call linear logic with FS "FS-linear logic".

Given a proposition A, the assertion of !A has the possibility of being instantiated by the proposition A, the unit 1 or !A*!A, and thus of arbitrarily many assertions of !A.

6.1.4 Examples of Proofs

For understanding of the rules described above, we give the following examples.

Example 6.1.3 We can derive that $!A \Rightarrow A*!A$ and $!A \Rightarrow !(A*A)$.

• For $!A \Rightarrow A*!A$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A \quad !A \Rightarrow !A}{A, !A \Rightarrow A * !A} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A \Rightarrow !A}{A, !A \Rightarrow A * !A} (! \Rightarrow a) \quad (! \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A * !A}{A \Rightarrow A * !A} (! = a)$$

• For $!A \Rightarrow !(A * A)$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A \quad A \Rightarrow A}{A, A \Rightarrow A * A} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{A, A \Rightarrow A * A}{!A, !A \Rightarrow A * A} (! \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A * A}{!A \Rightarrow !(A * A)} (\Rightarrow !) (! - \text{contruction})$$

Example 6.1.4 We can derive that $!(A \sqcap B) \equiv !A*!B$.

• For $!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A * !B$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \qquad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow)$$
$$\frac{\frac{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow A} (!\Rightarrow)}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A} (\Rightarrow !) \qquad \frac{\frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B} (!\Rightarrow)}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow B} (\Rightarrow !)$$
$$\frac{\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A \ast !B} (\Rightarrow *)}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A \ast !B} (! - \text{contraction})$$

• For $!A*!B \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)$, we have

$$\begin{array}{ll} \displaystyle \frac{A \Rightarrow A}{!A \Rightarrow A} \left(! \Rightarrow \right) & \displaystyle \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{!B \Rightarrow B} \left(! \Rightarrow \right) \\ \displaystyle \frac{!A, !B \Rightarrow A}{!A, !B \Rightarrow A} \left(! - \text{weakening} \right) & \displaystyle \frac{!A, !B \Rightarrow B}{!A, !B \Rightarrow B} \left(! \Rightarrow \right) \\ \displaystyle \frac{!A, !B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{!A, !B \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)} \left(\Rightarrow \sqcap \right) \\ \displaystyle \frac{\vdots A, !B \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)}{!A \ast !B \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)} \left(\ast \Rightarrow \right) \end{array}$$

Example 6.1.5 We can derive that $!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A \sqcap !B$ and $!(!A \sqcap !B) \equiv !(A \sqcap B)$.

• First we show that $!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A \sqcap !B$.

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \qquad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow)$$
$$\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow A}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A} (\Rightarrow !) \qquad \frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow B}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !B} (\Rightarrow !)$$
$$\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !B}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !B} (\Rightarrow \sqcap)$$

- Next we show that $!(!A \sqcap !B) \equiv !(A \sqcap B)$.
 - For $!(!A\sqcap !B) \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{!A \Rightarrow A} (! \Rightarrow) \qquad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{!B \Rightarrow B} (! \Rightarrow)
\underline{A \sqcap !B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \qquad \underline{B \Rightarrow B} (! \Rightarrow)
\underline{A \sqcap !B \Rightarrow B} (\square 2 \Rightarrow)
\underline{A \sqcap !B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (! \Rightarrow)
\underline{\frac{!A \sqcap !B \Rightarrow A \sqcap B}{!(!A \sqcap !B) \Rightarrow A \sqcap B} (! \Rightarrow)
\underline{(!A \sqcap !B) \Rightarrow !(A \sqcap B)} (\Rightarrow !)
...$$

- For $!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !(!A \sqcap !B)$, we have

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow A} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow) \qquad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow A}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A} (\Rightarrow !) \qquad \frac{A \sqcap B \Rightarrow B}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow B} (! \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A} (\Rightarrow !) \qquad \frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !B}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !B} (\Rightarrow !)$$

$$\frac{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !A \sqcap !B}{!(A \sqcap B) \Rightarrow !(!A \sqcap !B)} (\Rightarrow !)$$

Example 6.1.6 We can derive that $1 \equiv !\top$.

• For $1 \Rightarrow !\top$, we have

$$\frac{\stackrel{\Rightarrow}{\Rightarrow} \top}{\stackrel{\Rightarrow}{\Rightarrow} \stackrel{(\Rightarrow)}{\Rightarrow}}_{1 \Rightarrow ! \top} (\Rightarrow)$$

• For $!\top \Rightarrow 1$, we have

$$\frac{\Rightarrow 1}{!\top \Rightarrow 1} (! - \text{weakening}).$$

Therefore if there is !, then 1 is expressed by \top .

Remark 6.1.7 The rules of (1), (2) and (3) of Definition 6.1.2 are derivable from the above original rules as follows:

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{!A \Rightarrow A} (! \Rightarrow),$$

$$\frac{\Rightarrow 1}{!A \Rightarrow 1} (! \text{ - weakening}),$$

$$\frac{!A \Rightarrow !A \quad !A \Rightarrow !A}{!A \Rightarrow !A * !A} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{!A \Rightarrow !A * !A}{!A \Rightarrow !A * !A} (! \text{ - contraction}).$$

Proposition 6.1.8 The rule of (1), (2) and (3) of Definition 6.1.2 are interderivable with the following single rule:

$$!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A).$$

Proof.

$$\frac{!A \Rightarrow A \quad !A \Rightarrow 1}{!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1} (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \qquad !A \Rightarrow !A*!A \\ \frac{!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1}{!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)} (\Rightarrow \sqcap).$$

And if $!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)$, then $!A \Rightarrow A$, $!A \Rightarrow 1$ and $!A \Rightarrow !A*!A$ immediately.

Proposition 6.1.9 Using the rule of (FS), we can derive the following rule:

$$A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A) \Longrightarrow !A.$$

Proof. Define $B := A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)$.

$$\frac{\underline{!A \Rightarrow A \quad !A \Rightarrow 1}}{\underline{!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1}} (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \quad \underline{!A \Rightarrow !A * !A} (\Rightarrow \sqcap) \quad \underline{!A \Rightarrow B} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{\underline{!A \Rightarrow B}}{\underline{!A \Rightarrow B}} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{\underline{!A \Rightarrow B + B}}{\underline{!A * !A \Rightarrow B * B}} (* \Rightarrow) (cut)$$

$$\frac{\underline{B \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow 1 \quad B \Rightarrow B * B}}{B \Rightarrow !A} (2)$$

Therefore in FS-linear logic,

$$!A \equiv A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A).$$

6.1.5 Relation between the exponential and Petri Nets

We explain the relation between exponential ! and Petri nets, and we show that exponential is useful to represent a place which can supply arbitrary many but finite tokens by firing transitions. For understanding, we give the following simple example. **Example 6.1.10** Consider the following net, with $P = \{!a, a\}$ and $T = \{t_1, t_2, t_3\}$. Premultisets $\bullet(t_1)$, $\bullet(t_2)$ and $\bullet(t_3)$ are [!a], and post-multisets $(t_1)^{\bullet}$, $(t_2)^{\bullet}$ and $(t_3)^{\bullet}$ are [!a, !a], [] and [a], respectively.



Figure 6.1: Relation between the exponential ! and Petri net.

Suppose that there is one token in !a.

- 1. A firing of transition t_1 changes the marking from [!a] to [!a, !a],
- 2. a firing of transition t_2 changes the marking from [!a] to [] and
- 3. a firing of transition t_3 changes the marking from [!a] to [a].

The firing of the transition t_1 transforms one token in !a into two tokens in !a. Then we can supply arbitrary many but finite tokens by firing transition t_1 . By the firing of the transition t_2 , the token in !a vanishes. The firing of the transition t_3 transforms one token in !a into one token in a.

In linear logic, we can represent these as following:

- 1. $!a \Rightarrow !a*!a$,
- 2. $!a \Rightarrow 1$,
- 3. $!a \Rightarrow a$.

6.2 Semantics

6.2.1 Valuation on Quantale

Definition 6.2.1 (valuation) A valuation v on a quantale $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a mapping of Φ into Q satisfying the following conditions: for every $A, B \in \Phi$,

- 1. $v(A \sqcap B) = v(A) \land v(B),$
- 2. $v(A \sqcup B) = v(A) \lor v(B),$
- 3. $v(A * B) = v(A) \bullet v(B),$
- 4. $v(A \multimap B) = v(A) \multimap v(B),$

5. $v(\top) = \top$, 6. $v(\bot) = \bot$, 7. v(1) = 1, 8. v(!A) = !v(A).

6.2.2 Validity

Definition 6.2.2 (valid) A formula A is said to be

1. true in a valuation v on a quantale \mathbf{Q} if

 $1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$

holds, which will be denoted by

$$\mathbf{Q}, v \models A;$$

2. valid with respect to a class \mathcal{Q} of quantales if for each quantale $\mathbf{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}$ and each valuation v on \mathbf{Q} ,

 $\mathbf{Q}, v \models A$

holds, which will be denoted by

 $\mathcal{Q} \models A;$

and a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is said to be *valid* with respect to \mathcal{Q} if and only if

 $\mathcal{Q} \models \Gamma^* \multimap A,$

where Γ^* is a formula defined by $\emptyset^* := 1$ and $(\Gamma, A)^* := \Gamma^* * A$.

6.2.3 Soundness

The soundness theorem can be shown as usual (see e.g. [47]).

Theorem 6.2.3 (soundness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic, then it is valid with respect to the class of all quantales with exponential.

Proof. Soundness is proved by a straightforward induction on hight of proof.

- Initial sequents are valid,
- for the rules of inference (structural rules and logical rules), if upper sequent(s) is valid, then lower sequent is valid.

We show that initial sequents, structural rules and logical rules are valid. For structural rules and logical rules, we show that if upper sequent(s) is valid, then lower sequent is valid. In this section we show only four structural rules for exponential which are added to linear logic without exponential in Chapter 5.

We show that structural rules are valid.

(a) $! \Rightarrow$.

• Since $\models \Gamma, A \Rightarrow B, \models \Gamma^* * A \multimap B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A \multimap B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * A) \multimap v(B)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \multimap v(B)$, and so $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$. Thus

$$v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(B).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma, A \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma, !A \Rightarrow B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * ! A \multimap B$$

Since $v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(B)$, $v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(B)$ by $!v(A) \sqsubseteq v(A)$. Therefore

$$v(\Gamma^*) \bullet ! v(A) = v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A)$$
$$\sqsubseteq v(B),$$

and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A) \multimap v(B)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^**!A \multimap B)$, and so $\models \Gamma^**!A \multimap B$.

- (b) !-weakening.
 - Since $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow B$, $\models \Gamma^* \multimap B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* \multimap B)$, and hence

$$1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - \bullet v(B).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma$, $!A \Rightarrow B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models \Gamma^* * ! A \multimap B.$$

Since $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(B)$ and $!v(A) \sqsubseteq 1$, $!v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(B)$, and then $!v(A) = v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(B)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A) \multimap v(B)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^**!A \multimap B)$, and so $\models \Gamma^**!A \multimap B$.

(c) !-contraction.

• Since $\models \Gamma, !A, !A \Rightarrow B, \models \Gamma^* * !A * !A \multimap B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * !A * !A \multimap B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A) \bullet v(!A) \multimap v(B)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(!A) \bullet v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$, and so $v(!A) \bullet v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \multimap v(B)$. Thus

$$v(A) \bullet ! v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - \bullet v(B).$$

• We show that if $\models \Gamma$, !A, $!A \Rightarrow B$, then $\models \Gamma$, $!A \Rightarrow B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$= \Gamma^* * ! A \multimap B.$$

Since $!v(A) \bullet !v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \bullet v(B)$ and $!v(A) \sqsubseteq !v(A) \bullet !v(A)$,

$$!v(A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - \bullet v(B),$$

and then $v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) - v(B)$. Therefore $v(\Gamma^*) \cdot v(!A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^*) \cdot v(!A) - v(B)$. Thus $1 \sqsubseteq v(\Gamma^* * !A - B)$, and so $\models \Gamma^* * !A - B$.

(d) $\Rightarrow !.$

• Since $\models !\Gamma \Rightarrow B$, $\models (!\Gamma)^* \multimap B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v((!\Gamma)^* \multimap B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v((!\Gamma)^*) \multimap v(B)$. Thus

$$v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(B).$$

• We show that if $\models !\Gamma \Rightarrow B$, then $\models !\Gamma \Rightarrow !B$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models (!\Gamma)^* \multimap !B.$$

Suppose that $\models (!\Gamma)^* \multimap !B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v((!\Gamma)^* \multimap !B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v((!\Gamma)^*) \multimap v(!B)$. Therefore we show that

$$v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(!B).$$

Since $v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(B)$ and if $v(A) \sqsubseteq v(B)$, then $!v(A) \sqsubseteq !v(B)$, $!v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq !v(B)$. Therefor $v(!(!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(!B)$, and hence $v((!!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(!B)$. Since $v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v((!\Gamma)^*)$, $v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq v(!B)$. (Note that ! Γ is a shorthand for $!A_1, \ldots, !A_n$ where $\Gamma = A_1, \ldots, A_n$.)

Theorem 6.2.4 (soundness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in FS-linear logic, then it is valid with respect to the class of all FS-quantales with exponential.

Proof. We only show that additional one rule, FS, is valid.

FS.

(a) Suppose that $B \Rightarrow A$, $B \Rightarrow 1$ and $B \Rightarrow B * B$ are true. Then $\models B \Rightarrow A$, $\models B \Rightarrow 1$ and $\models B \Rightarrow B * B$, and hence $\models B \multimap A$, $\models B \multimap 1$ and $\models B \multimap B * B$. Then $1 \sqsubseteq v(B \multimap A)$, $1 \sqsubseteq v(B \multimap 1)$ and $1 \sqsubseteq v(B \multimap B * B)$, and hence $1 \sqsubseteq v(B) \multimap v(A)$, $1 \sqsubseteq v(B) \multimap v(1)$ and $1 \sqsubseteq v(B) \multimap v(B) \bullet v(B)$. Therefore

$$v(B) \sqsubseteq v(A),$$
$$v(B) \sqsubseteq v(1) = 1,$$
$$v(B) \sqsubseteq v(B) \bullet v(B).$$

(b) We show that if $\models B \Rightarrow A$, $\models B \Rightarrow 1$ and $\models B \Rightarrow B * B$, then $\models B \Rightarrow !A$. By the definition, it suffices to show that

$$\models B \multimap !A.$$

By Definition 4.3.7, on the FS-quantale with exponential, if $v(B) \sqsubseteq v(A)$, $v(B) \sqsubseteq 1$ and $v(B) \sqsubseteq v(B) \bullet v(B)$, then $v(B) \sqsubseteq !v(A) = v(!A)$. Therefore $1 \sqsubseteq v(B) \bullet v(!A)$, and so $1 \sqsubseteq v(B \multimap !A)$. Thus $B \Rightarrow !A$ is true.
6.3 Completeness

First we discuss the classes of quantales. Then we show how to construct the quantales with exponential from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic for our quantales.

- Let $\mathcal{Q}_0, \mathcal{Q}_1, \mathcal{Q}_2$ and $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$ be the classes of quantales defined by
 - $\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_0 &:= \{ \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N) \mid \text{N is a Petri net} \}, \\ \mathcal{Q}_1 &:= \{ C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid \text{N is a Petri net} \}, \\ \mathcal{Q}_2 &:= \{ C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid \text{N is a Petri net} \}, \\ \mathcal{Q}_2^! &:= \{ C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))^! \mid \text{N is a Petri net} \}. \end{aligned}$

Then $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)$, $C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$, $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))^!$ are quantales obtained from the preordered commutative monoid \mathbf{X}_N using closure operations C_1 and C_2 .

We say that linear logic is *complete* for a class \mathcal{Q} of quantales, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic whenever $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid with respect to \mathcal{Q} .

 Q_1 is the class of quantales used in Engberg and Winskel [15]. In any quantale in Q_0 or Q_1 , the distributivity is always valid: in fact, in Q_0 and Q_1 , the lattice operations meet and join correspond to usual set operations intersection and union, respectively, and hence the distributivity automatically holds. As mentioned in Chapter 1, any logic which is complete for Q_0 or Q_1 , must have the distributivity as a theorem. In Chapter 5, we have considered the class Q_2 , and have proved completeness for Q_2 in which the distributivity is not always valid. Here we consider the class $Q_2^!$, and prove completeness for $Q_2^!$ in which the Petri nets have the place with exponential !.

In order to prove completeness, we have constructed quantales with exponential from a Petri net as follows (see Figure 6.2):

First we construct a Petri net $N = \langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$. For constructing N, we take formulas as places and sequents (provability) as transitions. Then from N, we construct a preordered commutative monoid $\mathbf{X}_N = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box, +, [] \rangle$, and from the powerset $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N) = \langle \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}), \cup, \bullet, \{[]\} \rangle$ of the preordered commutative monoid, we construct a quantale $\mathbf{Q}_2 = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}) \rangle$ by closure operation C_2 . Finally we construct a quantale $\mathbf{Q}_2^! = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}), ! \rangle$ or $\mathbf{Q}_F^! = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}), !, F \rangle$ from \mathbf{Q}_2 .

Petri net N

∜

Proposition 3.2.4

preordered commutative monoid X_N

 \Downarrow

quantale $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_{N})$

Proposition 4.1.9





Figure 6.2: The construction of the quantales with exponential $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$ or $\mathbf{Q}_F^!$.

The Petri net N = $\langle P, T, \bullet(-), (-)\bullet \rangle$ is constructed as follows:

∜

- 1. $P := \Phi$ (the set of all formulas),
- T := {(Γ, Δ) | Γ ⇒ Δ* is provable in linear logic}
 (in intuitionistic linear logic, the formulas on right hand side of the sequent are restricted at most one formula occurrence, so the formulas in Δ are connected with *),
- 3. for each $t = (\Gamma, \Delta) \in T$,
 - (a) •t := [Γ],
 (b) t• := [Δ].

Then we define a mapping v of Φ into the quantale \mathbf{Q}_2 by

$$v(C) := C_2(\{[C]\}).$$

Next we construct the FS-quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$ or the quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}_F^!$.

Note that in the preordered commutative monoid $\mathbf{X}_N = \langle \mathcal{M}, \Box \rangle, +, [] \rangle$, for a sequence Γ , since $[\Gamma]$ is a multiset consisting of places in Γ ,

$$[\Gamma] \square [\Delta]$$
 if and only if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ is provable

in linear logic, and hence

$$C_2(\{[\Gamma]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[\Delta]\})$$
 if and only if $\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta^*$ is provable

in linear logic.

We could not prove completeness for $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$, but we could for $\mathbf{Q}_F^!$. In the sequel, we shall prove completeness for $\mathbf{Q}_F^!$. First we explain why we could not prove completeness using $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$, and then we show how to prove completeness using $\mathbf{Q}_F^!$.

6.3.1 Completeness for FS-Linear Logic

We had shown in Chapter 4, as an interpretation of !a, for an element a of a quantale, we require an element x such that

$$x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x).$$

Although this will not in general characterize a unique value of the quantale, since from FS it follows that any x satisfying $x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x)$ should be below !a, !a should be the greatest fixed point of the monotone mapping

$$x \longrightarrow a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x)$$

in the complete lattice given together with the quantale.

Note that by definition, a quantale with exponential $\mathbf{Q}^! = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1, ! \rangle$ is an FSquantale with exponential if

$$b \sqsubseteq a, b \sqsubseteq 1$$
 and $b \sqsubseteq b \bullet b$ implies $b \sqsubseteq !a$.

Moreover by proposition, let $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ be a quantale, and for each $a \in Q$, define an operator ! on Q by

$$!a := \bigvee \{ x \in Q | x \sqsubseteq a \land 1 \land (x \bullet x) \},\$$

then $\mathbf{Q}^! = \langle Q, \lor, \bullet, 1, ! \rangle$ is an FS-quantale with exponential.

Proposition 6.3.1 Let

$$\mathbf{Q}_2 = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}) \rangle$$

be a quantale. For each $A \in C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}))$, define an operator ! on $C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}))$ by

$$!A := \bigcup_{C_2} \{ X \in C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})) | X \subseteq A \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (X \bullet_{C_2} X) \}.$$

Then

$$\mathbf{Q}_2^! = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}), ! \rangle$$

is an FS-quantale with exponential.

Proof. It is immediate from the definition of exponential.

Remark 6.3.2 Using Lemma 4.3.3, we can show that

$$v((!\Gamma)^*) \le !v((!\Gamma)^*)$$

by induction on the length of Γ .

Proof. $!v(A) \sqsubseteq v(!A)$ from definition, then $!!v(A) \sqsubseteq !v(!A)$ by 4 of Lemma 4.3.4, and hence

$$||v(A) = |v(A) \text{ (by 1 of Lemma 4.3.3)}$$

= $v(!A)$
 $\sqsubseteq |v(!A).$

Therefore $v(!A) \sqsubseteq !v(!A)$, and so $v((!\Gamma)^*) \sqsubseteq !v((!\Gamma)^*)$.

Let $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$ be the class of FS-quantales with exponential defined by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{2}^{!} := \{ \mathbf{Q}_{2}^{!} \mid \mathbf{Q}_{2} \in \mathcal{Q}_{2}, !A := \bigcup_{C_{2}} \{ X | X = A \cap C_{2}(\{ [] \}) \cap (X \bullet_{C_{2}} X) \}, \\ A, X \in C_{2}(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})) \},$$

where $Q_2 := \{C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid N \text{ is a Petri net}\}$, and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ are commutative quantales defined from a preordered commutative monoid \mathbf{X}_N and closure operations C_2 .

We say that FS-linear logic is *complete* for a class $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$ of commutative quantales, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in FS-linear logic whenever $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid with respect to $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$.

Here we consider the class $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, and prove completeness for $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, since the distributivity is not always valid in FS-quantales with exponential from $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$.

In the sequel, we shall prove completeness for $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$.

Theorem 6.3.3 (completeness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid in $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, then it is provable in FS-linear logic.

Proof.

We can show by induction on the complexity of C that v is a valuation on $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$.

Since the completeness proof of the quantales automatically extends to the FS-quantales with exponential, it suffices to show that

$$v(!A) = !v(A).$$

Note that, by the definition of v,

- $v(!A) = C_2(\{[!A]\}),$
- $!v(A) = !C_2(\{[A]\})$ = $\bigcup_{C_2} \{C_2 X | C_2 X = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2 X \bullet_{C_2} C_2 X)\},$

where C_2X denotes the set of C_2 -closed elements of a set X.

Here it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[!A]\} = !C_2(\{[A]\}).$$

We could prove $C_2(\{[!A]\} \subseteq !C_2(\{[A]\}))$, but we could not the inverse.

1. First we show $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq !C_2(\{[A]\})$.

Suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[!A]\})$. By the definition of exponential !, since

$$!C_2(\{[A]\}) = \bigcup_{C_2} \{C_2 X | C_2 X = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2 X \bullet_{C_2} C_2 X)\},\$$

 $[\Gamma] \in !C_2(\{[A]\})$ if and only if there exists C_2X such that

$$C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2X \bullet_{C_2} C_2X) = C_2X \text{ and } [\Gamma] \in C_2X.$$

Then it suffices to show that

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[!A]\}) \cap (C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\})).$$

• For

$C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[!A]\}) \cap (C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\})),$

suppose that $[\Delta] \in C_2(\{[!A]\})$. Then since $[\Delta] \supset [!A]$, we see that $\Delta \Rightarrow !A$ is provable in FS-linear logic. Since $!A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)$ is provable in FS-linear logic, we have

$$\frac{\Delta \Rightarrow !A \quad !A \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)}{\Delta \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)}$$
(cut).

Therefore

$$[\Delta] \square A[\square 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)],$$

and hence

$$[\Delta] \in C_2(\{[A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)]\}).$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} [\Delta] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\})). \\ (\text{Remark } C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\}) = C_2(\{[!A*!A]\}). \text{ Because} \\ C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\}) = C_2(C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet C_2(\{[!A]\})) \\ &= C_2(\{[!A]\} \bullet \{[!A]\}) \\ &= C_2(\{[!A]\} \bullet \{[!A]\}) \\ &= C_2(\{[!A] + [!A]\}) \\ &= C_2(\{[!A] + [!A]\}), \end{aligned}$$

and $C_2(\{[!A*!A]\}) = C_2(\{[!A, !A]\}).)$

• For

$$C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\})) \subseteq C_2(\{[!A]\}),$$

suppose that

$$[\Delta] \in C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!A]\}))$$

Then since $[\Delta] \square [A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)]$, we see that

$$\Delta \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A)$$

is provable in FS-linear logic. Since $A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A) \Rightarrow !A$ is provable in FS-linear logic, we have

$$\frac{\Delta \Rightarrow A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A) \quad A \sqcap 1 \sqcap (!A*!A) \Rightarrow !A}{\Delta \Rightarrow !A}$$
(cut)

Therefore $[\Delta] \square [!A]$, and hence $[\Delta] \in C_2(\{[!A]\})$.

2. Next we show $!C_2(\{[A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[!A]\}).$

Since $|C_2(\{[A]\}) = \bigcup_{C_2} \{C_2 X | C_2 X = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2 X \bullet_{C_2} C_2 X)\}$, it suffices to show that if

$$C_2 X = C_2(\{[A]\}) \cap C_2(\{[]\}) \cap (C_2 X \bullet_{C_2} C_2 X),$$

then

$$C_2 X \subseteq C_2(\{[!A]\})$$

We could not prove this.

Remark 6.3.4 Consider the following rule:

$$\frac{B \Rightarrow A^n \text{ for all } n}{B \Rightarrow !A} \text{ (FS")}$$

where $A^0 := 1, A^{n+1} := A * A^n$.

By the addition of FS" rule to linear logic, we can derive FS as follows:

$$\frac{B \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow A}{B \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow 1} \frac{B \Rightarrow B * B \quad B \Rightarrow A * A}{B \Rightarrow A * A} (\Rightarrow *)$$

$$\frac{B \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow 1}{B \Rightarrow !A} \xrightarrow{B \Rightarrow A * A} (FS")$$

6.3.2 Completeness for Linear Logic

We will show how to prove completeness of linear logic for the class of quantales with exponential.

First we show the construction of our quantale with exponential.

Proposition 6.3.5 Let $\mathbf{Q}_2 = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}) \rangle$ be a quantale. Define $\mathbf{F} \subseteq C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M}))$ by

$$\mathbf{F} := \{ C_2(\{ [!A]\}) \mid A \in \Phi \}.$$

Then

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\mathrm{F}}^{!} = \langle C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})), \cup_{C_2}, \bullet_{C_2}, C_2(\{[]\}), !, \mathrm{F} \rangle$$

is a quantale with exponential.

Proof. We can prove that F defined as above satisfies the conditions 1 to 3 of Definition 4.3.7.

1. If $X, Y \in F$, then $X \bullet Y \in F$. It suffices to show that for $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \in F$ and $C_2(\{[!B]\}) \in F$,

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_2} C_2(\{[!B]\}) \in \mathbf{F}.$$

Since

$$C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_{2}} C_{2}(\{[!B]\}) = C_{2}(C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) \bullet C_{2}(\{[!B]\}))$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[!A]\} \bullet \{[!B]\})$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[!A] + [!B]\})$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[!A, !B]\})$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[!A*!B]\}),$$

we show

 $C_2(\{[!A*!B]\}) \in \mathbf{F}.$

By Example 6.1.4, $|A*|B \equiv |(A \sqcap B)$, and hence

$$C_2(\{[!A*!B]\}) = C_2(\{[!(A \sqcap B)]\}) \in \mathcal{F}.$$

2. $X \bullet X = X$ fir all $X \in F$. It suffices to show that

$$C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_{2}} C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) = C_{2}(\{[!A]\})$$

Since $C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) \bullet_{C_{2}} C_{2}(\{[!A]\}) = C_{2}(\{[!A*!A]\})$, we show
 $C_{2}(\{[!A*!A]\}) = C_{2}(\{[!A]\}).$

Since $!A*!A \equiv !(A \sqcap A) \equiv !A$,

$$C_{2}(\{[!A*!A]\}) = C_{2}(\{[!(A \sqcap A)]\})$$

= $C_{2}(\{[!A]\})$
 \in F.

3. $1 \in F$ and $X \sqsubseteq 1$ for all $X \in F$. It suffices to show that

 $C_2(\{[\,]\}) \in \mathcal{F}$

and

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[]\})$$

for all $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \in \mathbf{F}$. Note that

$$C_{2}(\{[]\}) = C_{2}(\{[1]\})$$

= $C_{2}(\{[1]\})$
 \in F.

Therefore $C_2(\{[]\}) \in F$. For $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[]\})$, suppose that $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[!A]\})$. Then $[\Gamma] \supseteq [!A]$, and hence $\Gamma \Rightarrow !A$ is provable in linear logic. Since $!A \Rightarrow 1$ is also provable in linear logic, we have

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow !A \quad !A \Rightarrow 1}{\Gamma \Rightarrow 1} \text{ (cut)},$$

and then $[\Gamma] \square [1]$. Therefore $[\Gamma] \in C_2(\{[]\})$, and so $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[]\})$.

Note that F consists of C_2 -closures of multisets which have a token in a place with exponential !, that is the place can supply arbitrary but finite tokens. For the FS-quantales with exponential which the definition of exponential ! is the one in [15, 16, 17], we could prove soundness but could not prove completeness. Because we could not show that v defined above was a valuation on the FS-quantales with exponential, i.e., we could prove

$$v(!A) \subseteq !v(A),$$

but could not prove the converse. So we use the other definition of exponential !. Since in the quantales with exponential of our definition, we can also show $!v(A) \subseteq v(!A)$, then we can prove completeness.

Let $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$ be the class of quantales with exponential defined by

 $\mathcal{Q}_2^! := \{ \mathbf{Q}_F^! \mid \mathbf{Q}_2 \in \mathcal{Q}_2, F \subseteq C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})) \text{ with 1 to 3 of Definition 4.3.7} \},\$

where $Q_2 := \{C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N)) \mid N \text{ is a Petri net}\}$, and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ are commutative quantales defined from a preordered commutative monoid \mathbf{X}_N and closure operations C_2 .

We say that linear logic is *complete* for the class $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$ of quantales with exponential, if $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic whenever $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid with respect to $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$. Here we consider the class $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, and prove completeness for $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, since the distributivity is not always valid in quantales with exponential from $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$.

In the sequel, we shall prove completeness for $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$.

Theorem 6.3.6 (completeness) If a sequent $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is valid in $\mathcal{Q}_2^!$, then it is provable in linear logic.

Proof.

Since the completeness proof of the quantales automatically extends to the quantales with exponential, it suffices to show that

$$v(!A) = !v(A).$$

Note that, by the definition of v,

•
$$v(!A) = C_2(\{[!A]\}),$$

•
$$!v(A) = !C_2(\{[A]\})$$

= $\bigcup_{C_2} \{C_2 X \in F \mid C_2 X \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\})\},\$

where $C_2 X$ denotes the set of C_2 -closed elements in the set F defined in Proposition 6.3.5.

Here we show that

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) = !C_2(\{[A]\}).$$

1. For $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq !C_2(\{[A]\})$, since the closure operation C_2 is order preserving and $!A \Rightarrow A$ by the definition, we see that

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\}).$$

On the other hand $C_2(\{[!A]\}) \in \mathbf{F}$, hence

$$C_2(\{[!A]\}) \subseteq !C_2(\{[A]\}).$$

2. For $!C_2(\{[A]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[!A]\})$, suppose that $C_2(\{[!B]\}) \in \mathbb{F}$ with $C_2(\{[!B]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\})$. Then $[!B] \supseteq [A]$, and hence $!B \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic. Therefore $!B \Rightarrow !A$, and so $[!B] \supseteq [!A]$. Thus

$$C_2(\{[!B]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[!A]\}),$$

hence

$$C_{2}(\{[A]\}) = \bigcup_{C_{2}} \{C_{2}X \in \mathcal{F} \mid C_{2}X \subseteq C_{2}(\{[A]\})\}$$

$$\subseteq C_{2}(\{[!A]\}).$$

Finally we prove that $\Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic whenever $1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$. To this end, suppose that $1 \sqsubseteq v(A)$. Then $C_2(\{[]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[A]\})$, and hence $[] \supseteq [A]$ in the original preordered monoid \mathbf{M}_N . Thus $\Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic. Therefore if $\Gamma^* \multimap A$ is true in $\mathbf{Q}_2^!$ with v, then

$$\frac{\Rightarrow \Gamma^* \multimap A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A} \frac{\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Gamma^* A \Rightarrow A}{\Gamma^* \multimap A, \Gamma \Rightarrow A} (\multimap \Rightarrow)}{\Gamma \Rightarrow A} (\operatorname{cut})$$

and hence $\Gamma \Rightarrow A$ is provable in linear logic.

Chapter 7

Interpretation on Petri Nets

In this chapter, we give an impression on the meaning of the logic on the proposed Petri net model, comparing with that by [15].

First, using some examples, we consider a difference of interpretations between C_1 and C_2 , and then we show that the distributivity is not always valid for the quantales constructed with C_2 . We give also the interpretation of exponential ! for a Petri net using an example. Moreover we try to give a different interpretation of formulas under our closure operation.

7.1 Interpretation of C_1 and C_2

The markings forward reachable from m form the set

$$\uparrow m = \{ m' \in \mathcal{M} \mid m \to m' \}.$$

Similarly, the markings downward reachable to m form the set

$$\downarrow m = \{ m' \in \mathcal{M} \mid m' \to m \}$$

In this thesis, for a marking m, we consider the set of downward reachable to m, and generally call the set the downward closure of m.

In [15, 16, 17], this notation is extended from the marking m to the set M of markings as following:

$$\downarrow M := \{ m' \in \mathcal{M} \mid \exists m \in \mathcal{M}(m' \to m) \},\$$

and we call this downward closure $\downarrow M C_1$.

In this thesis, this notation is extended as following:

$$\begin{split} M^{\to} &:= \{ m' \in \mathcal{M} \mid \forall m \in M(m \to m') \}, \\ M^{\leftarrow} &:= \{ m' \in \mathcal{M} \mid \forall m \in M(m' \to m) \}, \end{split}$$

and we call this downward closure $(M^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} C_2$.

In [15], C_1 is used as a closure operation when the class of quantales is defined, while the closure operation used in this thesis is C_2 . First, we describe an informal difference of interpretations between C_1 and C_2 . The formal definition of \models and valuation were given in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6, but here for intuitive understanding, let us agree with $\models A \multimap B$ means that $A \multimap B$ holds in the quantales created with C_1 or C_2 . For a single marking $m \in \mathcal{M}$, it is easy to see that

$$\downarrow \{m\} = (\{m\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow},$$

and therefore

$$C_1(\{m\}) = C_2(\{m\})$$

holds. Hence, for $m, m' \in \mathcal{M}$,

$$C_i(\{m\}) \subseteq C_i(\{m'\})$$
 if and only if $m \square m'$ $(i = 1, 2)$,

i.e., inclusion between two C_1 -closed markings in \mathcal{M} coincides with the reachability relation between them, and also for two C_2 -closed markings.

We will identify a marking with the formula representing it. Since

 $\models A \multimap B$ if and only if $v(A) \subseteq v(B)$,

the following holds for both of quantales $C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$:

 $\models m \multimap m'$ if and only if $m \square m'$.

Hence we can read $\models m \multimap m'$ as 'm' is reachable from m'. For a subset of markings, C_1 and C_2 may give different results.

7.2 Difference between C_1 and C_2

First we give some interpretations of linear logic on the Petri net models created using C_1 and C_2 .

Example 7.2.1 Consider the following net:



Figure 7.1: Petri net - I.

Here we have

$$C_1(\{[a]\}) = C_2(\{[a]\}) = \{[a]\},\$$

$$C_1(\{[b]\}) = C_2(\{[b]\}) = \{[a], [b], [d]\},\$$

$$C_1(\{[c]\}) = C_2(\{[c]\}) = \{[a], [c]\}.$$

In this example, with interpretations of connectives *, \sqcup and \sqcap , the following holds:

1. $\models a * a \multimap a * b$ and $\models a * a \multimap b * c$. Because

$$C_{1}(\{[a * a]\}) = C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \bullet_{C_{1}} C_{1}(\{[a]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \bullet C_{1}(\{[a]\}))$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \bullet \{[a]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a]\}) = C_{1}(\{[a]+[a]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a]+[a]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a,a]\})$$

$$= \{[a,a]\}$$

and

$$C_{1}(\{[a * b]\}) = C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \bullet_{C_{1}} C_{1}(\{[b]\})$$

= $C_{1}(\{m + m' \mid m \in \{[a]\}, m' \in \{[a], [b], [d]\}\})$
= $C_{1}(\{[a] + [a], [a] + [b], [a] + [d]\})$
= $C_{1}(\{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d]\})$
= $\{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d]\}.$

Since $\{[a, a]\} \subseteq \{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d]\},\$

$$C_1(\{[a * a]\}) \subseteq C_1(\{[a * b]\}).$$

(Remark

$$C_{2}(\{[a * b]\}) = C_{2}(\{[a]\}) \bullet_{C_{2}} C_{2}(\{[b]\})$$

= $C_{2}(\{m + m' \mid m \in \{[a]\}, m' \in \{[a], [b], [d]\}\})$
= $C_{2}(\{[a] + [a], [a] + [b], [a] + [d]\})$
= $C_{2}(\{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d]\})$
= $\{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d], [b, b], [b, d], [d, d]\}.$

Since $\{[a, a]\} \subseteq \{[a, a], [a, b], [a, d], [b, b], [b, d], [d, d]\},\$

$$C_2(\{[a * a]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[a * b]\}).)$$

We can prove $\models a * a \multimap b * c$ similarly.

2. $\models a \sqcup d \multimap b$ and $\models d \multimap a \sqcup b$. Because

$$C_{1}(\{[a \sqcup d]\}) = C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \cup_{C_{1}} C_{1}(\{[d]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(C_{1}(\{[a]\}) \cup C_{1}(\{[d]\}))$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a]\} \cup \{[d]\})$$

$$= C_{1}(\{[a], [d]\})$$

$$= \{[a], [d]\}$$

and $C_1(\{[b]\}) = \{[a], [b], [d]\}$. Since $\{[a], [d]\} \subseteq \{[a], [b], [d]\}, C_1(\{[a \sqcup d]\}) \subseteq C_1(\{[d\}).$

(Remark

$$C_{2}(\{[a \sqcup d]\}) = C_{2}(\{[a]\}) \cup_{C_{2}} C_{2}(\{[d]\})$$

$$= C_{2}(C_{2}(\{[a]\}) \cup C_{2}(\{[d]\}))$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[a]\} \cup \{[d]\})$$

$$= C_{2}(\{[a], [d]\})$$

$$= \{[a], [b], [d]\}$$

and $C_2(\{[b]\}) = \{[a], [b], [d]\}$. Since $\{[a], [b], [d]\} \subseteq \{[a], [b], [d]\}, [d]\}$

 $C_2(\{[a \sqcup d]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[d]\}).)$

We can prove $\models d \multimap a \sqcup b$ similarly.

3. $\models a \multimap b \sqcap c$ and $\models b \sqcap c \multimap e$. Because

$$C_1(\{[a]\}) = \{[a]\}$$

and

$$C_1(\{[b \sqcap c]\}) = C_1(\{[b]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})$$

= $\{[a], [b], [d]\} \cap \{[a], [c]\}$
= $\{[a]\}.$

Since $\{[a]\} \subseteq \{[a]\},\$

$$C_1(\{[a]\}) \subseteq C_1(\{[b \sqcap c]\}).$$

We can prove $\models b \sqcap c \multimap e$ similarly. Since $C_1(\{[b \sqcap c]\}) = \{[a]\}, C_1(\{[e]\}) = \{[a], [e]\}\}$ and $\{[a]\} \subseteq \{[a], [e]\}, C_1(\{[e]\}) \subseteq C_1(\{[e]\}) \subseteq C_2(\{[e]\})$

$$C_1(\{[b \sqcap c]\}) \subseteq C_1(\{[e]\}).$$

Remark 7.2.2 Here we consider the meaning of \sqcap , 3 of the example given above. $\models a \multimap b \sqcap c$ means that b and c are reachable from a, but $\models b \sqcap c \multimap e$ does not mean that e is reachable from b or c. Note that in the interpretation of $m_1 \sqcap m_2 \multimap m_3$, it is not always true that we understand the meaning of each marking in formulas as it has. It will be described later, so here we show a case using the above example, $\models b \sqcap c \multimap e$. The rules of \sqcap are the following:

$$\frac{b \Rightarrow e}{b \sqcap c \Rightarrow e} (\sqcap 1 \Rightarrow), \qquad \frac{c \Rightarrow e}{b \sqcap c \Rightarrow e} (\sqcap 2 \Rightarrow),$$

The meaning is not 'e is reachable from b or c', but 'e is reachable from every markings from which b and c are reachable'. If $x \square b$ and $x \square c$, then $x \square e$. This does not always mean that e is reachable from b or c.

Example 7.2.3 Consider the following net:



Figure 7.2: Petri net - II.

Here we have

$$C_1(\{[c]\}) = C_2(\{[c]\}) \\ = \{[a,b],[c]\},\$$

$$C_1(\{[e]\}) = C_2(\{[e]\}) = \{[a, b, d], [c, d], [e]\}.$$

In this example, with interpretations of connectives $-\infty$, the following holds:

1.
$$C_1(\{[b \multimap c]\}) = C_2(\{[b \multimap c]\}) = \{[a]\}, \text{ and then}$$

 $\models (b \multimap c) \multimap a.$

Because

$$C_{1}(\{[b \multimap c]\}) = C_{1}(\{[b]\}) \multimap C_{1}(\{[c]\})$$

= $\bigcup_{C_{1}} \{X \mid X \bullet C_{1}(\{[b]\}) \subseteq C_{1}(\{[c]\})\}$
= $C_{1}(\{x \mid x + y \in C_{1}(\{[c]\}) \text{ for all } y \in C_{1}(\{[b]\})\})$
= $C_{1}(\{x \mid x + [b] \in \{[a, b], [c]\}\}).$

If x = [a], then $[a] + [b] = [a, b] \in \{[a, b], [c]\}$, and hence

$$C_1(\{[b \multimap c]\}) = \{[a]\}.$$

2.
$$C_1([d \multimap e]) = C_2([d \multimap e]) = \{[a, b], [c]\}, \text{ and then}$$

 $\models (d \multimap e) \multimap a * b \text{ and } \models (d \multimap e) \multimap c.$

Because

$$C_{1}(\{[d \multimap e]\}) = C_{1}(\{[d]\}) \multimap C_{1}(\{[e]\})$$

= $\bigcup_{C_{1}} \{X \mid X \bullet C_{1}(\{[d]\}) \subseteq C_{1}(\{[e]\})\}$
= $C_{1}(\{x \mid x + y \in C_{1}(\{[e]\}) \text{ for all } y \in C_{1}(\{[d]\})\})$
= $C_{1}(\{x \mid x + [d] \in \{[a, b, d], [c, d], [e]\}\}).$

If x = [a, b], then

$$[a,b] + [d] = [a,b,d] \in \{[a,b,d], [c,d], [e]\}$$

and if x = [c], then $[c] + [d] = [c, d] \in \{[a, b, d], [c, d], [e]\}$. Therefore

$$C_1(\{[d \multimap e]\}) = \{[a, b], [c]\}.$$

The following example shows the difference between C_1 and C_2 .

Example 7.2.4 Consider the net of Figure 7.1:

Here we have

- $C_1(\{[b]\}) = C_2(\{[b]\}) = \{[a], [b], [d]\},\$
- $C_1(\{[c]\}) = C_2(\{[c]\}) = \{[a], [c]\},\$
- $C_1(\{[a], [d]\}) \neq C_2(\{[a], [d]\})$, because

$$C_1(\{[a], [d]\}) = \{[a], [d]\},\$$

and since $\{[a], [d]\}^{\rightarrow} = \{[b]\}\$ and $\{[b]\}^{\leftarrow} = \{[a], [b], [d]\}\$, then

$$C_2(\{[a], [d]\}) = \{[a], [b], [d]\}.$$

Next we show that, while the quantale constructed using C_1 is distributive, it is not always true in the quantales using C_2 .

Example 7.2.5 Consider the net of Figure 7.2:

When we construct a quantale using C_1 , we have

- 1. $(C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_1} C_1(\{[d]\})) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})$ $= C_1(C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cup C_1(\{[d]\})) \cap C_1(\{[c]\}))$ $= C_1(\{[a,b]\} \cup \{[d]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\}))$ $= C_1(\{[a,b,d]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})$
 - $= \{[a, b, d]\} \cap \{[a, b, c]\}$
 - $= \hspace{0.1 cm} \{[a,b]\},$

2. $(C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})) \cup_{C_1} (C_1(\{[d]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\}))$

- $= C_1((C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})) \cup (C_1(\{[d]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})))$
- $= C_1((\{[a,b]\} \cap \{[a,b,c]\}) \cup (\{[d]\} \cap \{[a,b,c]\}))$
- $= C_1(\{[a,b]\} \cup \emptyset)$
- $= C_1(\{[a,b]\})$
- $= \{[a,b]\}.$

Therefore

$(C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_1} C_1(\{[d]\})) \cap C_1(\{[c]\}))$ = $(C_1(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})) \cup_{C_1} (C_1(\{[d]\}) \cap C_1(\{[c]\})),$

then distributivity is valid. But when we construct a quantale using C_2 , we have

1.
$$(C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{[d]\})) \cap C_2(\{[c]\}) = \{[a,b], [c]\}, \text{ because}$$

 $C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{[d]\}) = C_2(C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cup C_2(\{[d]\}))$
 $= C_2(\{[a,b]\} \cup \{[d]\})$
 $= C_2(\{[a,b], [d]\})$
 $= (\{[a,b], [d]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$
 $= \{[e]\}^{\leftarrow}$
 $= \{[a,b], [c], [d], [e]\}$

 and

$$C_{2}(\{[c]\}) = (\{[c]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow} \\ = \{[c], [e]\}^{\leftarrow} \\ = \{[a, b], [c]\},$$

then $(C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{[d]\})) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})$

$$= \{[a,b], [c], [d], [e]\} \cap \{[a,b], [c]\} \\ = \{[a,b], [c]\},$$

2. but $(C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})) \cup_{C_2} (C_2(\{[d]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\}))$

- $= C_2((C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})) \cup (C_2(\{[d]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})))$
- $= C_2((\{[a,b]\} \cap \{[a,b],[c]\}) \cup (\{[d]\} \cap \{[a,b],[c]\}))$
- $= C_2(\{[a,b]\} \cup \emptyset)$
- $= C_2(\{[a,b]\})$
- $= (\{[a,b]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$
- $= \ \{[a,b],[c],[e]\}^{\leftarrow}$
- $= \{[a,b]\}.$

Therefore

$(C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{[d]\})) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})$ $\neq (C_2(\{[a,b]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})) \cup_{C_2} (C_2(\{[d]\}) \cap C_2(\{[c]\})),$

then distributivity is not valid.

We consider conjunction and disjunction of two markings. Let m_1 , m_2 , and m_3 be markings in \mathcal{M} . The interpretation in $C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ is described as follows.

• $\models m_1 - m_2 \sqcup m_3$:

 m_2 or m_3 are reachable from m_1 .

• $\models m_1 - m_2 \sqcap m_3$:

 m_2 and m_3 are reachable from m_1 .

• $\models m_1 \sqcup m_2 \multimap m_3$:

 m_3 is reachable from m_1 and m_2 .

• $\models m_1 \sqcap m_2 \multimap m_3$:

 m_3 is reachable from every markings from which m_1 and m_2 are reachable, i.e., if $m \square m_1$ and $m \square m_2$ then $m \square m_3$. This does not always mean that m_3 is reachable from m_1 or m_2 .

From the last formula, it is not always true that we understand the meaning of each marking in formulas as it has. We should read $\models m \multimap m'$ as 'if m is reachable from some marking, then m' is also reachable from it'. Using this interpretation, the last formula is read as 'if m_1 and m_2 is reachable from some marking, then m_3 is also reachable from it'.

Using the same examples, we show the interpretation in $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$. Only the difference between $C_1(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ and $C_2(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{X}_N))$ is found in formulas with \sqcup , because

$$v(m_1 \sqcup m_2) = C_2(\{m_1\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{m_2\})$$

is not necessarily equal to

$$C_2(\{m_1\}) \cup C_2(\{m_2\}).$$

• $\models m_1 - m_2 \sqcup m_3$:

Every marking reachable in common from m_2 and m_3 is also reachable from m_1 .

• $\models m_1 \sqcup m_2 \multimap m_3$:

 m_3 is reachable from every marking reachable in common from m_1 and m_2 . As a result, m_3 is reachable from m_1 and m_2 , provided that there exist some markings reachable from both m_1 and m_2 .

7.3 Interpretation of Exponential !

For understanding exponential, we give the following example.

Example 7.3.1 Consider the following net:



Figure 7.3: Petri net - III.

If we have a token in the place a, by the firings of transition t_1 , we may extract as many tokens as we like. Because we can get two tokens from one token. So we can regard the place a as one which can supply arbitrary many but finite tokens.

When we construct a quantale using C_2 , we have the followings:

1. $C_2(\{[a]\}) = \{[a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\}$, because $C_2(\{[a]\}) = (\{[a]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$, and $\{[a]\}^{\rightarrow}$ is $\{[], [b], [a, a, a, \ldots]\}$, and then

$$\{[], [b]\}^{\leftarrow} = \{[a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\}.$$

2. $C_2(\{[]\}) = \{[], [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\}$, because $C_2(\{[]\}) = (\{[]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$, and $\{[]\}^{\rightarrow}$ is $\{[]\}$, and then

$$\{ [] \}^{\leftarrow} = \{ [] \} \cup \{ [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots \}$$

= $\{ [], [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots \}.$

3. $C_2(\{[b]\}) = \{[b], [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\}$, because $C_2(\{[b]\}) = (\{[b]\}^{\rightarrow})^{\leftarrow}$, and $\{[b]\}^{\rightarrow} = \{[b]\}$, and then

$$\{[b]\}^{\leftarrow} = \{[b]\} \cup \{[a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots \}$$

= $\{[b], [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots \}.$

Note that

$$C_2(\{[b]\}) = \{[b], [a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\}$$

and

$$C_2(\{[a]\}) = \{[a], [a, a], [a, a, a], \ldots\} = C_2(\{[!b]\}).$$

Therefore $C_2(\{[b]\})$ properly contains $C_2(\{[!b]\})$.

Remark 7.3.2 When we construct the quantale using C_2 from the example given above, for the set F of the quantale with exponential we have

$$\mathbf{F} = \{\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\}, \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\}\},\$$

where $[a^n] := [\underbrace{a, \ldots, a}_{a}].$

We can show that these hold Definition 4.3.7.

1. For if $x, y \in F$, then $x \bullet y \in F$,

$$\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\} \bullet \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\} = \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\} \in \mathbf{F}.$$

2. For $x \bullet x = x$ for all $x \in F$,

$$\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\} \bullet \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\} = \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\},\$$
$$\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\} \bullet \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\} = \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\}.$$

3. For $1 \in \mathbb{F}$ and $x \sqsubseteq 1$ for all $x \in \mathbb{F}$, $C_2(\{[1]\}) = \{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\}$, and

$$\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 1\} \subseteq C_2(\{[1]\}),$$

 $\{[a^n] \mid n \ge 0\} \subseteq C_2(\{[1]\}).$

7.4 Another Interpretation

We now give an intuitional meaning of each marking in formulas. By the definition of the closure operation, it is easy to see that for any $X \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$,

$$C_2(X)^{\to} := X^-$$

and

$$(C_2(X)^{\to})^{\leftarrow} = C_2(X)$$

holds. Therefore, a function

$$\mathcal{I}: C_2(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})^{\rightarrow}$$

defined by $\mathcal{I}(X) := X^{\rightarrow}$ is a bijection, and its inverse is $\mathcal{I}^{-1}(Y) := Y^{\leftarrow}$. Note that for any $X_1, X_2 \subset \mathcal{M}$,

$$C_2(X_1) \subseteq C_2(X_2)$$
 if and only if $\mathcal{I}(X_1) \supseteq \mathcal{I}(X_2)$.

We try to give the meaning of $X \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{M})$ by $\mathcal{I}(X)$ instead of $C_2(X)$. $\mathcal{I}(X)$ is the set of all markings reachable from every marking in X. Considering each token as a resource, $\mathcal{I}(\{m\}), m \in \mathcal{M}$ corresponds to *results* obtainable by providing resources m, where the results includes all markings reachable from m.

Let m_1, m_2 be markings. For the meaning of $m_1 \sqcap m_2$ and $m_1 \sqcup m_2$, we have the following.

- $C_2(\{m_1\}) \cap C_2(\{m_2\})$ is the set of all markings from which both of m_1 and m_2 are reachable. Therefore, the meaning of $m_1 \sqcap m_2$, i.e., $\mathcal{I}(C_2(\{m_1\}) \cap C_2(\{m_2\}))$, is the set of all results obtainable from every markings in $C_2(\{m_1\}) \cap C_2(\{m_2\})$. As a results, it contains both of $\mathcal{I}(\{m_1\})$ and $\mathcal{I}(\{m_2\})$.
- The meaning of $m_1 \sqcup m_2$, i.e., $\mathcal{I}(C_2(\{m_1\}) \cup_{C_2} C_2(\{m_2\}))$, is the set of all results obtainable in common by resources m_1 and by resources m_2 .

Then the following interpretation is possible.

• $\models m_1 - m_2$ means that

'if one can get any result obtainable from resource m_1 , then one can also get any result obtainable from m_2 '. As a result, m_2 is reachable from m_1 .

• $\models m_1 \sqcup m_2 \multimap m_3$ means that

'if one can get any result obtainable in common from m_1 and m_2 , then one can also get any result obtainable from m_3 '. As a result, m_3 is reachable from both m_1 and m_2 , provided that there exist some markings reachable from both m_1 and m_2 .

• $\models m_1 \multimap m_2 \sqcup m_3$ means that

'if one can get any result obtainable from m_1 , then one can also get any result obtainable in common from m_2 and m_3 '.

• $\models m_1 \sqcap m_2 \multimap m_3$ means that

'if one can get both of any result obtainable from m_1 and any result obtainable from m_2 , then one can also get any result obtainable from m_3 '. This does not necessarily imply that m_3 is reachable from m_1 and m_2 .

• $\models m_1 - m_2 \sqcap m_3$ means that

'if one can get any result obtainable from m_1 , then one can also get both of any result obtainable from m_2 and any result obtainable from m_3 '. As a result, both m_2 and m_3 are reachable from m_1 .

Comparing with temporal logics, one of advantages of using linear logic in Petri nets is to describe properties on individual tokens. For example,

$$\models c * m \multimap (a \sqcup b) * m$$

means that 'any results obtainable in common from marking m with additional resource a and marking m with additional resource b is also obtainable by adding resource c'.

The difference between the interpretation shown above and that by [15] can be found in the following example:

'once place a is marked, it is possible to reach a marking where b is marked'.

On the model of [15], it is described by

$$\models a * \top - b * \top.$$

On the model of this thesis, this has a different meaning:

'if one can get any result obtainable in common from any marking with a marked, then one can also get any result obtainable in common from any marking with b marked'.

Note that since $\mathcal{I}(v(a * \top))$ may be empty in most cases, it is hard to describe such *don't care* submarkings on the model of this thesis.

7.5 Relation of Linear Logic, Models and Petri Nets

Here we consider the relation of linear Logic, models (quantales with exponential !) and Petri nets.



Figure 7.4: The relation of linear logic, models and Petri nets.

These mean that (L) is the set of formulas, (Q) is the set of quantales and (P) is the set of Petri nets, respectively.

• L : the set of formulas

all formulas : the set of all formulas, i.e., Φ

 $a\subseteq \Phi$: the set of all provable formulas

 $b\subseteq \Phi$: the set of all formulas which are valid in the quantales

 $c\subseteq \Phi$: the set of all formulas which are valid in the quantales generated from Petri nets

• Q : the set of quantales

quantales : the set of all quantales

PN-quantales : the set of all quantales generated from Petri nets

1. relation between a and b

soundness : $a \subseteq b$ completeness : $b \subseteq a$

2. relation between a and c

soundness : $a \subseteq c$ completeness : $c \subseteq a$ Soundness and completeness of linear logic are proved for quantales [1, 5, 19, 21, 22, 39, 47]. Therefore the set of all provable formulas equals the set of all formulas which are valid in quantales, i.e., a = b. The problem of this thesis is how is the relation between a and c. We considered whether the set of all formulas which are valid in the quantales, i.e., the set of all provable formulas equals the set of all formulas valid in the quantales, i.e., the set of all provable formulas equals the set of all formulas valid in the quantales generated from Petri nets or not, and have proved a = c.

Chapter 8

Concluding Remarks

We have seen how to construct quantales in which the distributivity is not always valid from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic for the quantales. Moreover, we extend the quantales to the quantales with exponential !. We introduce how to construct quantales with exponential from Petri nets, and prove completeness of linear logic for the quantales with exponential.

In this concluding chapter, moreover we consider the connection between classical linear logic and Petri nets.

Definition A modal classical quantale is a classical quantale with additional unary operation ? satisfying:

- 1. $!(a b) \sqsubseteq ?a ?b,$
- 2. $a \sqsubseteq ?a$,
- 3. ?0 = 0,
- 4. $??a \sqsubseteq ?a$,
- 5. $0 \sqsubseteq ?a$.

Lemma In every modal classical quantale, the following holds:

- 1. if $a \sqsubseteq b$ then $?a \sqsubseteq ?b$,
- 2. if $!a \bullet b \sqsubseteq ?c$ then $!a \bullet ?b \sqsubseteq ?c$.

Definition A structure $\mathbf{Q} = \langle Q, \vee, \bullet, 1, 0 \rangle$ is a *commutative classical quantale* if

- 1. $\langle Q, \vee \rangle$ is a complete lattice,
- 2. $\langle Q, \bullet, 1 \rangle$ is a commutative monoid,
- 3. $(\forall x_i) \bullet y = \forall (x_i \bullet y) \text{ for all } x_i, y \in Q,$
- 4. $\sim \sim x = x \ (\sim x := x 0)$ for all $x \in Q$.

We shall use simply classical quantale for commutative classical quantale with unit.

Definition Define a binary operation $-\bullet$ on **Q** by

$$y - \bullet z := \bigvee \{ x \mid x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z \}.$$

Then

 $x \sqsubseteq y - \bullet z$ if and only if $x \bullet y \sqsubseteq z$.

Definition Syntax (formulas, sequents, axioms and rules) of classical linear logic are follows: (In this section we show only formulas, axioms and rules we have to add to linear logic in Chapter 6.)

1. Formulas

The language of classical linear logic has an alphabet consisting of

a propositional constant: 0,

an unary connective: ? and

a binary connective: \oplus .

The connective carry traditional name:

 \oplus : disjunction (par) and

?: modality (why not, consumption or costorage).

Formulas are inductively defined by

The propositional variables and constants are formulas and if A is formula, then ?A is formula.

2. Axioms and Rules

The basic calculus is obtained from the calculus of linear logic by adding the following rules.

(a) The adding axiom of classical linear logic is the instance of the following one axiom-scheme:

$$\Gamma, 0 \Rightarrow \Delta.$$

(b) The adding rules of inference of classical linear logic are the following structural rules: $\Gamma \rightarrow \Delta$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, 0} (0 - \text{weakening}),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, A, B, \Lambda}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, B, A, \Lambda} (\text{exchange}),$$

and the following logical rules:

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, D}{D^{\perp}, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta} (\bot \Rightarrow),$$
$$\frac{D, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, D^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \bot),$$

$$\frac{A, \Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta \quad B, \Pi \Rightarrow \Lambda}{A \oplus B, \Gamma, \Pi \Rightarrow \Delta, \Lambda} (\oplus \Rightarrow), \\
\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, A, B}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, A \oplus B} (\Rightarrow \oplus),$$

and the following modality rules:

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, ?A} (? \text{-weakening}),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, ?A, ?A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, ?A} (? \text{-contraction}),$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow ?\Sigma}{?A \Rightarrow ?\Sigma} (? \Rightarrow),$$

$$\frac{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, A}{\Gamma \Rightarrow \Delta, ?A} (\Rightarrow ?),$$

where $?\Gamma$ is a shorthand for $?A_1, \ldots, ?A_n$ where $\Gamma = A_1, \ldots, A_n$.

For understanding of the adding rules described above, we give the following examples.

Examples of Proofs

- 1. We can derive that $(A * B)^{\perp} \equiv A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp}$.
 - For $(A * B)^{\perp} \Rightarrow A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp}$,

$$\frac{\frac{A \Rightarrow A \quad B \Rightarrow B}{A, B \Rightarrow A * B} (\Rightarrow *)}{\frac{(A * B)^{\perp} \Rightarrow A^{\perp}, B^{\perp}}{(A * B)^{\perp} \Rightarrow A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \oplus)} (\perp \Rightarrow, \Rightarrow \bot)$$

•

• For
$$A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp} \Rightarrow (A * B)^{\perp}$$
,

$$\frac{\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A^{\perp}, A \Rightarrow} (\bot \Rightarrow) \quad \frac{B \Rightarrow B}{B^{\perp}, B \Rightarrow} (\bot \Rightarrow)}{\frac{A, B, A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp} \Rightarrow}{A \ast B, A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp} \Rightarrow} (\Rightarrow \bot)} (\oplus \Rightarrow)$$

$$\frac{\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp} \Rightarrow} (A \ast B)^{\perp}}{A^{\perp} \oplus B^{\perp} \Rightarrow (A \ast B)^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \bot)$$

2. We can derive that $A \multimap B \equiv A^{\perp} \oplus B$.

• For
$$A \multimap B \Rightarrow A^{\perp} \oplus B$$
,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{\Rightarrow A, A^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \bot) \qquad B \Rightarrow B \\ \frac{A \multimap B \Rightarrow A^{\perp}, B}{A \multimap B \Rightarrow A^{\perp} \oplus B} (\Rightarrow \oplus) \qquad (\multimap \Rightarrow)$$

• For $A^{\perp} \oplus B \Rightarrow A \multimap B$,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, A^{\perp} \Rightarrow} (\perp \Rightarrow) \qquad B \Rightarrow B \\ \frac{A, A^{\perp} \oplus B \Rightarrow B}{A^{\perp} \oplus B \Rightarrow A \multimap B} (\Rightarrow \multimap)$$

3. We can derive that $(!A)^{\perp} \equiv ?A^{\perp}$.

• For
$$(!A)^{\perp} \Rightarrow ?A^{\perp}$$
,

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{\Rightarrow A, A^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \perp)$$

$$(\Rightarrow ?)$$

$$\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{\Rightarrow A, A^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \perp)$$

• For $?A^{\perp} \Rightarrow (!A)^{\perp}$,

$$\begin{array}{c} \frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A^{\perp}, A \Rightarrow} (\bot \Rightarrow) \\ \hline \\ \frac{A^{\perp}, A \Rightarrow}{?A^{\perp}, !A \Rightarrow} (? \Rightarrow) \\ \hline \\ \frac{?A^{\perp}, !A \Rightarrow}{?A^{\perp} \Rightarrow (!A)^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \bot) \end{array} \end{array}$$

- 4. We can derive that $A^{\perp} \equiv A 0$. We use this later.
 - For $A^{\perp} \Rightarrow A \multimap 0$,

$$\frac{\frac{A \Rightarrow A}{A, A^{\perp} \Rightarrow} (\perp \Rightarrow)}{\frac{A, A^{\perp} \Rightarrow 0}{A^{\perp} \Rightarrow A \multimap 0}} (0 \text{ - weakening})$$

$$(0 \text{ - weakening})$$

$$(0 \text{ - weakening})$$

• For
$$A \rightarrow 0 \Rightarrow A^{\perp}$$
,

$$\frac{0 \Rightarrow A \Rightarrow A}{A, A \multimap 0 \Rightarrow} (\multimap \Rightarrow)$$
$$\frac{A, A \multimap 0 \Rightarrow}{A \multimap 0 \Rightarrow A^{\perp}} (\Rightarrow \bot)$$

- 5. We derive that $0 \equiv ? \perp$.
 - For $0 \Rightarrow ? \bot$, we have

$$\frac{0 \Rightarrow}{0 \Rightarrow ?\bot} (? - \text{weakening}).$$

• For $? \perp \Rightarrow 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\perp \Rightarrow}{?\perp \Rightarrow}(?\Rightarrow)}{?\perp \Rightarrow 0} (0 - \text{weakening}).$$

Therefore if there is ?, then 0 is expressed by \perp .

Suppose that we want to express the set of all markings which cannot be reached from a marking.

For example, suppose that we want to express that in a Petri net model, a marking in a place a cannot get into a place b. How we can express this ? For understanding, we give the following example.

Example

Consider the following net:

Suppose that there are one token in b, w_1 and w_2 , and we want to express that in a Petri net model of mutual exclusion, processes p_1 and p_2 cannot get into their critical regions c_1 and c_2 at the same time.



Figure 8.1: Mutual exclusion.

Where the marking of the place w_1 indicates that the first process, p_1 , is working outside its critical region, c_1 , and similarly for the other process, p_2 . The resource corresponding to b is used to ensure mutual exclusion of the critical regions and after a process has been in its critical region it returns a resource, a, which then is prepared (transformed into b) for the next turn. The initial marking, m_0 , will be

$$m_0 = [b] + [w_1] + [w_2].$$

We can now express that e.g. p_1 can enter its critical region (from the initial marking) by:

$$\models m_0 - c_1 * \top.$$

However this does not ensure that no undesired tokens are present, so it is better to express it:

$$\models m_0 \multimap c_1 * w_2.$$

If the system is in a "working state" then both processes have the possibility of entering their critical section:

$$= w_1 * (a \sqcup b) * w_2 \multimap c_1 * w_2 \sqcap w_1 * c_2.$$

The property, that when p_1 is in its critical section and p_2 is working it is possible that p_2 can later came into its critical section with p_1 working, is expressed by:

$$\models c_1 * w_2 - w_1 * c_2.$$

Similar other "positive" properties can be expressed. Shortly we shall see how to express the "negative" property that both processes cannot be in their critical regions at the same time.

Suppose we want to see how to express the negative property for Petri net, for example, two processes cannot be in their critical regions at the same time. Then we consider the operation of linear negation.

Definition

Linear negation can be expressed in terms of 0 and $-\infty$ by

$$A^{\perp} := A \multimap 0.$$

Its semantics with respect to a quantale is determined by a choice for the denotation 0.

Now we can prove soundness theorem for quantales generated by Petri nets, but have not succeeded to prove completeness for quantales by using similar construction in Chapter 5 and 6. It is one of subjects of further research.

Acknowledgments

I am indebted to my principle advisor Professor Kunihiko Hiraishi, for his constant encouragement and support throughout my preparing this dissertation. Dr. Shao Chin Sung also have helped me and given me invaluable advice since I started my research. Also I would like to express my deep gratitude to Professor Hajime Ishihara for his invaluable advice throughout my research on linear logic and Petri nets.

I would like to thank Professor Hajime Sawamura, Professor Milan Vlach, Professor Hiroakira Ono and Professor Tetsuo Asano who gave me invaluable advice for my research on linear logic and Petri nets, or who read an earlier version of this manuscript carefully and gave me helpful comments and suggestions.

I was helped by a lot of people to grapple with my subjects and to prepare this dissertation, and was helped by Hiraishi laboratory members for making my stay at Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology a wonderful experience. Here I would like to express my sincere gratitude to them.

Also I would like to thank staffs and colleagues in Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology for the good environment to study and to prepare manuscripts.

Finally, I would like to thank my husband for his support and encouragement during the past seven years. Also many thanks to my parents for their love and support, and I would like to thank my children for allowing me to spend so much time at school.

Bibliography

- Abrusci, V.M.: Sequent Calculus for Intuitionistic Linear Propositional Logic. In Mathematical Logic, Edited by P.P.Petkov, Plenum Press, New York, (1990) 223– 242.
- [2] Anderson, A.R., Belnap Jr., N.D.: Entailment: The Logic of Relevance and Necessity. Vol. 1, Princeton University Press (1975).
- [3] Arbib, M.A., Kfoury, A.J., Moll, R.N.: A basis for theoretical computer science. Texts and Monographs in Computer Science, vol. 8, Springer-Verlag (1981).
- [4] Avron, A.: The semantics and proof theory of linear logic. Theoretical Computer Science 57 (1988) 161–184.
- [5] Abramsky, S., Vickers, S.: Linear Process Logic. Notes by Steve Vickers (1988).
- [6] Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory. Providence (American Mathematical Society), (1967).
- [7] Brown, C.: Petri nets as quantales. Technical Report ECS-LFCS-89-96, Department of Computer Science, University of Edinburgh, (1989).
- [8] Brown, C.: Linear logic, Petri net and quantales. Preprint (1990) 16pp.
- [9] Clote, P.: On the finite containment problem for Petri nets. Theoretical Computer Science 43 (1986) 99-105.
- [10] Dunn, J.M.: Relevance Logic and Entailment. In Handbook of Philosophical Logic, vol. III, eds. D. Gabbay and F. Guenthner, Dordrecht (D. Reidel Publishing Company) (1986) 117–224.
- [11] Dunn, J.M.: A Representation of Relation Algebras Using Routley-Meyer Frames. Indiana University Logic Group Preprint No. IULG-93-28 (1993).
- [12] Dunn, J.M.: Gaggle Theory Applied to Modal, Intuitionistic, and Relevance Logic. In Logic und Mathematik: Frege-Kolloquium Jena, eds. I. Max and W. Stelzner, de Gruyter (1993) 335–368.
- [13] Dunn, J.M., Meyer, R.K.: Combinators and Structurally Free Logic. L. J. of the IGPL, Vol. 5 No. 4 (1997) 505–537.
- [14] Davey, B.A., Priestley, H.A.: Introduction to Lattices and Order. Cambridge Mathematical Textbooks, Cambridge University Press (1990).

- [15] Engberg, U.H., Winskel, G.: Petri Nets as Models of Linear Logic. In CAAP '90, Coll. on Trees in Algebra and Programming, Copenhagen, Denmark, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 431 Springer, (1990) 147–161.
- [16] Engberg, U.H., Winskel, G.: Linear logic on Petri Nets. In A Decade of Concurrency: Reflections and Perspectives, REX School/Symp. Proc. Noordwijkerhout, (J.W. de Bakker, W.-P. de Roever and G. Rozenberg, eds.) The Netherlands, 1993, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 803 Springer, (1994) 176-229.
- [17] Engberg, U.H., Winskel, G.: Completeness results for linear logic on Petri Nets. Annals of Pure and Applied Logic 86(2) (1997) 101–135.
- [18] Gunter, C., Gehlot, V.: Nets as tensor theories. Tech. Report MS-CIS-89-68, University of Pensylvania (1989).
- [19] Girard, J.Y.: Linear Logic. Theoretical Computer Science 50 (1987) 1–102.
- [20] Girard, J.Y.: Multiplicatives. Rendiconti del Seminario Matematico (Torino), Univ. Polit., Torino (special issue on Logic and Computer Science) (1988).
- [21] Girard, J.Y.: Linear Logic: its syntax and semantics. Advances in Linear Logic (J.Y.Girard, Y.Lafont and L.Regnier, eds) (1995) 1–42.
- [22] Girard, J.Y., Lafont, Y.: Linear Logic and Lazy Computation. In Proc TAPSOFT 87, Pisa, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 250 Springer, (1987) 52–66.
- [23] Gratzer, G.: General Lattice Theory. Academic Press (1978).
- [24] Girard, J.Y., Scedrov, A., Scott, P.J.: Bounded linear logic: A modular approach to polynomial time computability. In S. Buss, P.J. Scott, eds., Proceedings of the Mathematical Science Institute Workshop on Feasible Mathematics, Cornell University. Birkhauer Verlag (1988).
- [25] Halmos, P.R.: Naive Set Theory. Springer-Verlag (1974).
- [26] Hodas, J.S. Miller, D.: Logic programming in a fragment of intuitionistic linear logic. In proceedings Sixth Annual IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. IEEE Computer Society Press, Los Alamitos, California, (1991) 32-42.
- [27] Lafont, Y.: The linear abstract machine. Theoretical Computer Science 59 (1988) 157–180.
- [28] Lang, S.: Undergraduate algebra. Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag (1987).
- [29] Lilius, J.: High-level Nets and Linear Logic. In 13th International Conference Sheffield, UK, June 1992, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 616 Springer, (1992) 310–327.
- [30] Lincoln, P. Mitchell, J. Scedrov, A. Shankar, N.: Decision Problems for Propositional Linear Logic, Annals Pure Appl. Logic, 56 (1992) 239–311.

- [31] MacNeille, H.M.: Partially ordered sets. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 42 (1937) 416–460.
- [32] Mayr, E.: An algorithm for the general Petri net reachability problem, SIAM J. Comput., 13 (1984) 44-460.
- [33] Meyer, R.K.: A General Gentzen System for Implicational Calculi. In Relevance logic Newsletter, 1 (1976) 189–201.
- [34] Martí-Oliet, N., Meseguer, J.: From Petri Nets to Linear Logic. In Category Theory and Computer Science, Manchester, Lecture Notes in Computer Science 389 Springer (1989).
- [35] Martí-Oliet, N., Meseguer, J.: From Petri nets to linear logic, a survey, Internat. J.Found. Computer Science, 2 (1991) 297–399.
- [36] McKenzie, R.N., McNulty, G.F., Taylor, W.F.: Algebras, Lattices, Varieties. Vol. I, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole, (1987).
- [37] Moschovakis, Y.N.: Notes on Set Theory. Springer-Verlag (1991).
- [38] Niefield, S.B., Rosenthal, K.I.: Constructing locales from quantales. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 104 (1988) 215–234.
- [39] Ono, H.: Semantics for Substructural Logics. In Substructural logics, Oxford Univ. Press (1993) 259–291.
- [40] Petri, C.A.: Kommunikation mit Automaten, Schriften des Rheinisch, Westfalischen Institutes für Intrumentelle Mathematik and der Universität Bonn, 1962, translation by C.F.Greene, Applied Data Research Inc., Suppl.1 to Tech. Report RADC-TR-65-337, N.Y., (1965).
- [41] Reisig, W.: Petri Nets: An Introduction. EATCS Monogaphs on Theoretical Computer Science 4, Springer (1985).
- [42] Rosenthal, K.I.: A note on Girard quantales. Cahiers de Topologie et Géometrie Différentielle Catégoriques 31 (1990) 3–11.
- [43] Rosenthal, K.I.: Quantales and their Applications. Longman Scientific & Technical (1990).
- [44] Routley, R., Meyer, R.K.: The Semantics of Entailment, II-III. Journal of Philosophical Logic 1 (1972) 53–73 and 192–208.
- [45] Schellinx, H.: The Noble Art of Linear Decorating, ILLC-publication, Amsterdam, (1994).
- [46] Steven, V.: TOPOLOGY VIA LOGIC. Cambridge University Press, (1989).
- [47] Troelstra, A.S.: Lectures on Linear Logic. Center for the Study of Language and Information (1992).

- [48] Wechler, W.: Universal algebra for computer scientists. EATCS Monographs on Theoretical Computer Science, vol. 25, Springer-Verlag (1992).
- [49] Weil, A.: Number theory for beginners. Springer-Verlag (1979).
- [50] Yetter, D.N.: Quantales and (noncommutative) linear logic. The Journal of Symbolic Logic 55 (1990) 41–64.

publications

- Keiko Ishihara and Kunihiko Hiraishi. The Completeness of Linear Logic for Petri Net Models. In *Technical Report of IEICE, Vol.96, No.585, pp.41-50, 1997.3.*
- Keiko Ishihara and Kunihiko Hiraishi. The Completeness of Linear Logic for Petri Net Models. In J. IGPL., to appear.
- Keiko Ishihara and Kunihiko Hiraishi. Petri Net Models for Intuitionistic Linear Logic with Modal Operator. 1999 Korea-Japan Joint Workshop on Algorithms and Computation, Seoul National University, SIGTCS, pp.23-30, 1999.7.
- Keiko Ishihara and Kunihiko Hiraishi. The Completeness of Linear Logic for Petri Net Models. In Research Report IS-RR-98-0028F, School of Information Science, Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, 1998.
- Keiko Ishihara and Kunihiko Hiraishi. The Completeness of Linear Logic with modal operator for Petri Net Models. In Research Report IS-RR-98-0032F, School of Information Science, Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, 1998.